# **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Kardelen Ergul

April 08, 2024

Campaign Promises to Public Policy: An Analysis of Promise Fulfillment during the Presidencies of Donald Trump and Joe Biden

by

Kardelen Ergul

Alexander D. Bolton Adviser

Department of Political Science

Alexander D. Bolton

Adviser

Zachary F. Peskowitz

**Committee Member** 

Miguel R. Rueada

**Committee Member** 

2024

# Campaign Promises to Public Policy: An Analysis of Promise Fulfillment during the Presidencies of Donald Trump and Joe Biden

Ву

Kardelen Ergul

Alexander D. Bolton

Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Department of Political Science

2024

#### Abstract

# Campaign Promises to Public Policy: An Analysis of Promise Fulfillment during the Presidencies of Donald Trump and Joe Biden

# By Kardelen Ergul

This thesis explores the fulfillment of campaign promises by U.S. Presidents Donald Trump and Joe Biden and examines the mechanisms of promise fulfillment, with a focus on executive directives and traditional legislation-making processes. It adopts a comparative approach to evaluate the promise fulfillment rates of both presidents and investigates the influence of salience on promise fulfillment and fulfillment through traditional legislationmaking. The thesis also examines the effects of various factors, including crises such as the pandemic, the number of Senate seats held, and the fixed effects of policy areas on promise fulfillment and fulfillment through traditional legislative means.

The findings reveal that Joe Biden achieved a higher rate of promise fulfillment (55.26%) compared to Donald Trump (42.10%), with a notable portion of Biden's promises (33.33%) being realized through traditional legislative means, in contrast to Trump's 18.75%. This outcome supports the hypothesis that Donald Trump fulfilled fewer promises compared to Joe Biden because he was not able to successfully navigate the traditional legislationmaking processes. Despite similar Congressional compositions during their terms, our study does not support the hypothesis that a majority of the president's party in Congress significantly influences promise fulfillment rates. Furthermore, the research identifies a positive correlation between public opinion on the salience of issues and promise fulfillment. However, the study finds no statistically significant evidence that this relationship is strengthened when promises are fulfilled through traditional legislation. The thesis also suggests that promises related to crisis situations are more likely to be fulfilled, though not necessarily through legislative action. Lastly, an exploration into policy areas deemed important by the public shows that Trump had more success in fulfilling promises in key areas compared to Biden; however, these promises were fulfilled primarily through executive directives.

# Campaign Promises to Public Policy: An Analysis of Promise Fulfillment during the Presidencies of Donald Trump and Joe Biden

Βу

Kardelen Ergul

Alexander D. Bolton

Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Department of Political Science

2024

Acknowledgements

Dedicated to my dad,

# Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Thesis Statement	
Key Terms	4
Literature Review	5
Methodology	
Campaign Promises and Fulfillment	
Donald Trump	
International Affairs	
Foreign Trade	
Education	
Social Welfare	
Health	
Macroeconomics	
Labor	
Transportation	
Law & Crime	
Immigration	
Environment	
Energy	
Government Operations	
Joe Biden	
International Affairs	
Education	
Health	
Macroeconomics	
Labor	
Law & Crime	
Immigration	
Environment	
Energy	
Government Operations	
Analysis and Discussion	
Conclusion	
Limitations and Further Research	60
Endnotes	

# List of Tables

Table 1: Promise Fulfillment- President Donald Trump	50
Table 2: Promise Fulfillment- President Joe Biden	51
Table 3: Legislation-Making- President Joe Biden	52
Table 4: Legislation-Making- President Donald Trump	53

Table 5: Fulfillment Success Rate & Traditional Legislation-Making Success Rate	53
Table 6: Trump 2017-2019 Gallup Results	54
Table 7: Biden 2021-2023 Gallup Results	55
Table 8: Models of Promise Fulfillment	55
Table 9: Models of Traditional Legislation-Making Conditional on Promise Fulfillment	55
Table 10: 25% and 75% Margins for Models of Promise Fulfillment	57

# Introduction

When politicians run for elections, they make several promises on various issues. The promises that are uttered with the hopes that the voters will vote for the candidate can also show the direction the politician will take once she is elected. All the candidates running for positions at different levels of the government run on a platform that includes promises. As the presidential election campaigns gather the most national and international interest, the campaign promises of presidential candidates also attract significant public, media, and scholarly attention. As the voters look to the next four years of their lives, campaign promises serve as one of the indicators of what those four years might be like.

Fulfillment of campaign promises is also interrelated with the trust citizens have in politicians.<sup>1</sup> During the campaigning period, politicians aspire to give promises that will attract voters, and sometimes these promises can be given just to gather votes and be broken once elected to office.<sup>2</sup> Famous campaign promises, such as George H.W. Bush's "Read my lips, no new taxes," became highly popular as he broke his promise because of a failure to get support from Congress.<sup>3</sup> Bush breaking his promise resulted in opposition candidates calling him a liar, voters questioning his trustworthiness and potentially causing him re-election.<sup>4 5</sup> Even though President George H.W. Bush broke an important campaign promise, "about 75 percent of the promises made by presidents from Woodrow Wilson through Jimmy Carter were kept."<sup>6</sup> As fulfillment of campaign promises and voters' trust in politicians are highly related, politicians, once elected, might feel an obligation to fulfill them even though there are no legal obligations. <sup>7</sup> Fulfilling campaign promises and increasing knowledge of voters about the fulfillment of campaign promises can also help "increase public's trust and confidence" in politicians, thereby countering the stereotype that politicians lie <sup>8</sup>

Recently, President Biden's decision to forgive some student loans, which was a campaign promise that has stirred the debate on whether the presidents can fulfill their promises, and if yes which ones they choose to fulfill.<sup>9</sup> As the 2024 presidential election closes on the U.S. citizens and a possibility of a rematch between Joe Biden and Donald Trump gets higher, each day<sup>10</sup> voters have started to review each presidency and compare the promises that were kept and broken. For example, Biden's reelection bid video has been criticized as it failed to mention what promises was able to fulfill during his term and news outlets published pieces on assessing how Biden's accomplishments stack up to the campaign promises he made. <sup>11</sup>

Campaign promises are an important part of the electoral process, as they can influence how voters view and choose different candidates. These promises can also create a roadmap for elected officials, allowing citizens to understand and evaluate their performance. In addition to influencing elections and voter behavior, campaign promises can also provide a roadmap for a candidate once they are elected. This is particularly true when it comes to policy areas, as these promises can give voters an idea of what to expect from the candidate and can help to hold them accountable for their actions once in office. By creating a clear and well-defined set of promises, candidates can provide voters with a sense of direction and a standard by which to measure their performance. Then, a responsible electorate will hold political candidates accountable for the promises they make during elections, rewarding candidates that fulfill their promises and punishing those that break them<sup>12</sup>. In order to do this effectively, voters must be able to distinguish between promises that were kept and those that were broken. This requires a thorough understanding of the promises made by each candidate, as well as a willingness to evaluate the candidate's performance based on those promises.<sup>13</sup>

With this idea in mind, the thesis focuses on understanding which president, Joe Biden or Donald Trump, kept more promises and analyzing the different factors that affect which promises get to be fulfilled. The thesis also looks at the method of taking actions either through executive directives or Congress legislation to see presidents' abilities to navigate traditional legislation-making processes. With this understanding of the campaign promises' prominence in shaping public policy and electoral behavior, the research paper takes on to answer the question: Do presidents keep their promises, and if so, do they achieve this through executive actions or by navigating the traditional legislationmaking processes? The goal is to understand how the fulfillment of campaign promises differs between Donald Trump and Joe Biden, while looking at the effects of public opinion on the salience of issues, Senate share and crises such as the pandemic on promise fulfillment and fulfillment mechanisms.

## **Thesis Statement**

**H1**. It is hypothesized that a president fulfilled fewer promises compared to others if he was less likely to navigate through traditional legislation-making processes and relied more on executive directives to fulfill promises. Even though reliance on executive directives allows extensive privileges to the presidents, because of their limited impact and a negative outlook the public tends to have about executive directives, heavy reliance on executive directives without the successful navigation of the traditional legislation-making processes should result in less promises being fulfilled.

**H1a.** It is hypothesized that Donald Trump fulfilled less promises compared to Joe Biden because he was not able to successfully navigate the traditional legislation-making processes. We should expect that Donald Trump fulfilled fewer promises compared to Joe if he was less likely to navigate through traditional legislation-making processes and relied more on executive directives to fulfill promises.

H2. It is hypothesized that presidents are more likely to fulfill their promises if they have the support of Congress with the president's party having a majority of seats in Congress. One of the most significant ways a president can fulfill their promises is by gaining the support of Congress to pass desired legislation; therefore, a larger share of the president's party in Congress should lead to a higher number of promises being fulfilled.

**H2a**. It is hypothesized that a president is more likely to fulfill his promises, compared to others, if his party has the higher number of Senate seats. Since the averaged House seat shares of both presidents are calculated to be 217,5, a larger share of the president's party in the Senate should lead to a higher number of promises being fulfilled.

*H3.* It is hypothesized that there is a positive relationship between public opinion on the salience of issues and promise fulfillment. Since presidents have an interest in being responsive to the public in order to get re-elected and have higher levels of approval, we should expect an increase in the probability of fulfilling a promise when the public assigns greater importance to it.

*H4.* It is hypothesized that there is a positive relationship between public opinion on the salience of issues and promise fulfillment through traditional legislation-making. As traditional

legislation-making offers a more legitimate and sustainable way of policy-making, we should expect an increase in the probability of fulfilling a promise through traditional legislation-making when the public assigns greater importance to it.

**H5**. It is hypothesized that promises in public policy areas the public deems important are more likely to be fulfilled. Looking at the top three policy areas the public deems important in the Gallup averages, we should see the same or similar policy areas to have the highest level of fulfillment percentage.

*H6.* It is hypothesized that promises that are related to crises such as the pandemic are more likely to be fulfilled. As crises open up new opportunities for presidents to take decisive, meaningful action with fewer constraints, we should expect to see that promises related to a crisis, such as the pandemic, should have a higher probability of getting fulfilled.

**H7.** It is hypothesized that that promises in policy areas that are deemed important by the public are more likely to be fulfilled through traditional legislation-making. Looking at the top three policy areas the public deems important in the Gallup averages, we should see the same or similar policy areas to have the highest level of fulfillment through traditional legislation-making percentage.

*H8.* It is hypothesized that promises related to crises such as the pandemic are more likely to be fulfilled through traditional legislation-making. Even though times of crises could offer an opportunity to the president to expand his authority through executive directives, we should expect to see the usage of traditional legislation-making if the president wants to find more long-lasting and supportive ways of fulfilling his promises.

# **Key Terms**

**Campaign Promises:** Campaign promises are pledges made by a candidate during an election campaign to gather support from voters and create a roadmap for policy-making. Once a candidate takes office, the public may hold the public official accountable and expect them to fulfill those promises; however, those promises are not legally binding.

**Executive Directives:** Executive directives include executive orders, presidential memoranda, proclamations<sup>14</sup> and any instructed departmental activity.<sup>15</sup> They are issued by the President of the United States, and they are one form of legislation-making as allowed by the Constitution.

**Traditional Legislative-Making Process:** The legislative-making process, also known as the lawmaking process, is the process by which the legislative branch of the United States, Congress, proposes, discusses and passes/rejects legislation. Once a bill is passed in Congress, it is sent to the President for review and signature. This way of legislation-making is seen to be more legitimate as Congress passes bills through a democratic process while executive directives are issued only by the President.<sup>16</sup>

**Campaign Promise Fulfillment:** Campaign promise fulfillment refers to the extent to which a candidate who has been elected to office follows through on the promises they made during their election campaign. After being elected, a candidate may be expected to work towards fulfilling their campaign promises, either by passing executive directives or supporting legislative efforts in Congress.

**Spending Bills:** Spending bills, or appropriations bills, are introduced in Congress to allocate funding for specific programs, agencies, or activities of the federal government and are essential for keeping the federal government running.

#### **Literature Review**

Campaign promises as a scholarly topic enjoy a vast literature, as scholars from political science to psychology, from natural sciences to economics have conducted research on understanding them. Electoral behavior research especially focuses on the role campaign promises on various issues play when it comes to voting choices.<sup>17</sup> While earlier prominent research on electoral behavior suggests that issue voting is not substantial in the United States<sup>18</sup>, later research discusses the importance of issue voting, especially in presidential elections.<sup>19</sup> While some researchers chose to concentrate on understanding political reputations and credible commitment problems,<sup>20</sup> others

highlighted the relationship between fulfilling campaign promises and re-election potential. <sup>21</sup> All the findings from these strengthen the fact that campaign promises are a vital part of elections, and they affect how voters view different candidates and cast their votes.

Apart from affecting elections and how voters behave, campaign promises, especially in different policy areas, can also create a roadmap for the candidate once he is elected. As the promissory representation theory holds that parties and candidates make campaign promises and attempt to fulfill these promises if they get elected,<sup>22</sup> they can shed light on understanding which policy areas the president will focus on and help him set expectations. They can also serve as a tool for citizens to understand and rate the performance of the president.<sup>23</sup> Then, the responsible electorate will reward or punish parties according to promise fulfillment with the ability to distinguish between promises that were kept and broken.<sup>24</sup> As a result, it is crucial for an electorate to be able to learn what promises have been made during the electorate can signal their approval or disapproval resulting in accountability through sanctions, which can affect the president's approval ratings and overall policy choices.<sup>25</sup>

As for fulfilling promises, there are various actions presidents can take through executive directives and working with Congress to pass legislation. Executive directives, including instructed departmental activities, executive orders, presidential memorandum, and proclamations<sup>26</sup> are issued by the President of the United States as the head of the executive branch. <sup>27</sup> Even though executive directives are not explicitly mentioned in the U.S. Constitution, the document calls the President to "take Care that the Laws be faithfully executed" which gives him the legal authority to take action.<sup>28</sup> An extensive literature focuses on the legitimacy of executive directives,<sup>29</sup> how they might go against the rule of law<sup>30</sup> and serve as a way for presidents to circumvent the traditional-legislation making process conducted in the legislative branch: the U.S. Congress.<sup>31</sup> While the debate continues as to what actions presidents in using executive directives is an abuse of power. <sup>32</sup> Even though executive directives are important tools of legislation-making, they do not enjoy the same levels of legitimacy and durability the traditional legislation-making processes do.<sup>33</sup> Executive directives are at

risk of being reversed by a new president or being overturned by the judicial system on the grounds that they are unconstitutional.

As for the traditional legislation-making process conducted in the U.S. Congress, there is a lengthier process than signing an executive directive. A bill needs to be created and sponsored by a member of Congress, assigned to and passed from a committee, passed on the House or Senate floor after being debated (and sometimes amended), and moved onto the other chamber of Congress. After the passage of the bill in both chambers, a conference committee made of House and Senate members finalizes the bill and sends it to be signed into law by the president.<sup>34</sup> While some bills require a simple majority, others, such as funding bills, require a two-thirds vote<sup>35</sup> for passage, often requiring bipartisan support. This lengthy process is oftentimes made more complicated, with many stakeholders involved through lobbying efforts, party politics, filibusters, and compromises. The Constitution vests all legislative power in Congress <sup>36</sup> with "the sole authority to enact legislation and declare war, the right to confirm or reject many Presidential appointments, and substantial investigative powers,"<sup>37</sup> making it the traditional legislation-making body. Legislation passed by Congress holds more legitimacy <sup>38</sup>as Congress is the designated legislative body responsible for making laws by the Constitution, represents the will of the people with democratically elected members, and gives an opportunity for discussion and public discourse. At the same time, the judicial review also applies to legislation passed by Congress, and courts can find pieces of legislation to be unconstitutional, Congress can still override some Supreme Court rulings.<sup>39</sup> Congress legislation also enjoys longer durability compared to executive directives as they cannot be reversed with the election of a new president, and changing or repealing an act in Congress takes a lot of time and effort.

When a president considers acting on his campaign promises he has three possible routes he can take: he can decide not to take action, he can take actions that is against his promise, or he can take action that will fulfill his promise or start the promise of fulfillment. If he decides to take no action on that regard for now, he might be fully taking off the promises from his action consideration or he might be delaying. In a way, not taking an action on a campaign promise would be considered breaking his promise as no action indicates a failure of fulfillment. Delaying an action can also prove to be detrimental for a president depending on the urgency of the matter. Showing no signs of intent

on working on fulfilling a promise might alert the public and give the sense that he is not taking the issue seriously.

The president can also choose to take actions that will go against his campaign promises. As campaign promises serve as a policy route map for presidents, it is unlikely that they would want to go against that promises. First of all, going against the promise might upset their bases especially the ones that have an interest in the broken promise and based their vote in part on that promise. Secondly, breaking a promise would hurt the trust the president has established with his voters and also damage his reputation; making it harder for him to offer reliable promises and gain the trust of his voters if he re-runs for the presidency. It would also take away the president's negotiating power, as other negotiators (members of the Congress or even foreign entities) might see the president as an unreliable partner and refrain from collaborating. Given that breaking a promise is highly costly, the president has little incentives to do so but sometimes it might be necessary to break promises. A president might choose to break his promise as a compromise with the opposing party, especially to get a better deal or fulfill one of his higher-priority promises. He might be willing to forgo and face the consequences of breaking one promise to get the benefits from fulfilling a higher priority one. He might also be forced to break his promise because of pressure from the opposing party, the voters or the interest groups. Unexpected events like market crashes, natural disasters or international turmoil can also force a president's hand and result in the president taking actions that are against his campaign promises.

Moreover, the president can choose to take actions that will allow him to start the process of fulfilling his promises. At that point, the president will need to decide the medium and ways he wants to take this action to fulfill his promises. There are mainly two routes the president can follow: he can use executive directives, or he can rely on the traditional legislative-making processes and influence the Congress to take action. If he chooses to use executive directives, he and the bureaucracy will need to make the necessary planning to take the necessary action and oversee the implementation process. Taking an executive directive would put the responsibility on the executive branch and most importantly the president. Through successful planning and implementation, executive directives can help a president fulfill his campaign promises without having to deal with the Congress. However,

executive directives also prove to be costly as it is easier for them to be overturned. The Congress can simply overturn an executive directive by putting contradictory legislation in place. Executive directives are also in danger of being overturned with the end of an administration, as the newly elected president can easily undo these directives. Additionally, the Supreme Court can find executive orders to be unconstitutional and invalidate them. Executive directives also enjoy less durability as the next president in the office can simply overturn them. Even though the president would be able to take action on that matter while he is in office, an overturned executive directive would make it harder for that action to be sustainable.

Lastly, the president can rely on the Congress to help him fulfill his promise. At this point, the control of both chambers of the Congress matter greatly to him as the control of both houses by his own party would greatly aid the president in taking desired actions and fulfilling his promises. Firstly, the president's State of the Union address plays an important agenda setting role and can allow the president to shape the Congress' future sessions and legislation. The president also enjoys an extensive command of the public as he is most likely to get media coverage and overall public attention. He can use this power as another way of agenda setting and bring the issues he wants to focus on in fulfilling his promises to the forefront of the public debate and signal the Congress to work on these issues. Most importantly, through a member of Congress, the president can introduce a piece of legislation or amendment he wants to see passed. While this process is complicated as the legislation would need to be introduced by a member of Congress first, discussed and passed through both chambers of Congress, it creates a more certain and sustainable action that can only be undone by the judicial review and nothing else. Lastly, the president can influence the Congress and shape legislation through a threat of a veto as he has the ability to veto any legislation that passes through the Congress and overriding a veto in Congress is a difficult task the members of the Congress would not want to overtake.

Several factors can motivate a president to take action and fulfill specific promises, with one key factor being the president's responsiveness to the public. Jeffrey E. Cohen's popular book Presidential Responsiveness and Public Policy-Making finds that U.S. presidents are "responsive to the public in selecting issues to focus on," and they are more likely to focus on issues that garnered great public interest. <sup>40</sup> Cohen emphasizes that public opinion plays an important role in agenda setting, acting as a guiding framework for presidents to establish their priorities. However, Cohen highlights that after choosing which issue to work on the responsiveness of the president to the public declines as the president "will try to maintain control over the details of policy.<sup>41</sup> This supports the hypothesis that public opinion on the salience of issues have a positive relationship with promise fulfillment but not with promise fulfillment through traditional legislation-making as presidents decide on details of policy without relying on the public.

Similarly, Dahl argues that democratic elections establish "mechanisms for inducing responsive representatives." as elected official that are unresponsive to the public face the danger of being removed from office.<sup>42</sup> In a way this idea reinforces the belief that presidents have an interest in being responsive to the public in order to get re-elected. Rottinghaus, in Rethinking Presidential Responsiveness finds that there is "a high degree of responsiveness with 70 percent of the cases displaying a match between the president's positions and the prior opinion of the majority of the public."<sup>4344</sup> Canes-Wrone and Shotts look at the policy congruence by policy areas and find that there is a 100% congruence in social security, 92% in health and crime, and 52% in education and they suggest that the president is more likely to be responsive to matters that are familiar to citizens in their daily lives.<sup>45</sup> In a way, it can be seen that presidents are more likely to be responsive to matters that are deemed more important by the public.

Additionally, crises are seen as moments that can present both challenges and opportunities for presidents, as the country turns to the president for the solution of the problem. For example, the "president's ability to show sound judgment in a crisis is consistently ranked as the number one attitude the public seeks in a president.<sup>46</sup> Moreover, crises "open up new opportunities for presidents to take decisive, meaningful action with fewer constraints<sup>47</sup>", leading to expansion of presidential powers. As a result, presidents have a higher incentive in times of crisis to take action and fulfill their campaign promises.

Seeing that a president has various incentives to fulfill a promise we turn to understand the decision-making behind fulfilling a promise in certain ways. As mentioned before, the two major ways a president can take action and fulfill his campaign promises are executive directives and

traditional legislation-making. Even though the U.S. Constitution does not mention executive orders, the power to use executive orders has been assumed as an aspect of presidential authority. <sup>48</sup> Shane and Bruff argue that "presidents use executive orders to implement their most important policy initiatives.<sup>49</sup>" Mayer argues that "while deciding whether to use executive orders or not presidents consider the reactions of their opponents, and costs and benefits of using executive orders instead of legislation." <sup>50</sup> Many scholars also found that there is an inverse relationship between "presidential partisan strength in Congress" and executive orders to "deliver on key promises made to constituents.<sup>52</sup> While there is an extensive debate on whether the usage of executive orders constitute an abuse of power by the presidential approval ratings from persons of all political parties,"<sup>54</sup> enforcing the idea that the public opinion on the usage of executive orders is negative. The negative perception around executive orders, the unsustainability of actions taken through executive directives and the higher legitimacy legislation enjoys can direct a president to fulfill his promises through tradition legislation-making processes.

## Methodology

For this thesis, I have gone through PolitiFact's Trump-O-Meter<sup>55</sup> and Biden Promise Tracker<sup>56</sup> websites to review the promises and collect them in a document. In the first stage, I have sorted out the promises relating to personal matters, such as Donald Trump's promise of not taking any vacations. After sorting the personal promises, I was left with seventy-five promises for Donald Trump and seventy-seven promises for Joe Biden, leaving me with one-hundred and two promises in total. Later on, I went through all the promises and decided on the number of promises I wanted to include in my paper. Going through each promise, I have decided whether to include them or not based on the importance that promise carried throughout the campaign process. Due to limitations, I have also opted not to include any promises related to defense and veteran affairs, inclusion of those categories can help improve this research paper. Afterwards, I have decided to include seventy-six promises in total, thirty-eight for Donald Trump and thirty-eight for Joe Biden.

In the next step, I went through all the promises and created thirteen different categories to place each promise into. I have used the Comparative Agenda's <sup>57</sup> categories and codebook to make sure that my promise categories and salience categories aligned. While the Gallup's Most Important Problem dataset includes 25 (including other) policy areas<sup>58</sup>, through matching the promises with the policy areas, I have decided to include these policy categories: *international affairs, foreign trade, education, social welfare, health, macroeconomics, labor, transportation, law & crime, immigration, environment, energy, and government operations (shortened as governmental).* 

Using the Gallup's Most Important Problem dataset codebook, I was able to see which subcategories belonged to which policy areas and placed each promise according to the codebook. However, there were some promises that might be included in two different categories. For example, Donald Trump's promises to Cancel the Paris climate agreement, and Stop payments to U.N. global warming programs could be categorized as *international affairs* and environment. Similarly, Joe Biden's promise to **Rejoin the Paris climate agreement** could be categorized as *international* affairs and environment. As these promises focused on matters related to the climate change at their core rather than international cooperation, I have decided to categorize them as environment. For promises, Make no cuts to Medicare and Medicaid, Repeal Obamacare, and Improve **Obamacare** they could be categorized as *social welfare* and *health*, however I have decided to categorize them as *health* as the main goal of the Medicare and Medicaid is improving public health. For the promise, Award federal contracts to companies that make all products in the US, I have decided to use the policy area macroeconomics instead of labor as the promise was more related to "Made in America" rules. For the promise, Double number of immigration judges and staff, categories immigration and government operation could both be suitable, but I have decided to use *immigration*, as Biden's promise focused on providing relief to immigrants that were involved with the judicial system. Lastly, for the promise Give disadvantaged communities 40% of spending benefits related to clean energy, I have decided to categorize it as energy rather than social welfare, as the promise focused more on the clear energy benefits. After every promise was sorted into policy

areas, the policy area categories for President Trump were *international affairs*, *foreign trade*, education, social welfare, health, macroeconomics, labor, transportation, law & crime, immigration, environment, energy, governmental; while the policy area categories for President Biden were international affairs, education, health, macroeconomics, labor, law & crime, immigration, environment, energy, governmental.

After the promise-selection step, I started going through various websites such as PolitiFact, White House, White House Archives, Congress.gov, Washington Post, the New York Times, and Politico to find executive directives or legislation related to those promises up until the midterms for each president. Then, I created two descriptions for fulfillment: fulfilled and unfulfilled. Fulfillment means the exact wording in the promise had been achieved either through executive directives or legislation passed by Congress. For example, the promise of "achieving complete energy independence" is considered unfulfilled even if the U.S. achieves 99% energy independence since the exact wording in the promise has not been fulfilled. A promise is also considered unfulfilled even though a president or Congress had taken significant action towards achieving it but did not fully complete it, for example when a Bill passes in the House but fails on the Senate floor. For categorization, the end result is what matters and this criterion even resulted in one promise being considered fulfilled even though the president took several actions to break his promise, but Congress took action against it.

After categorizing promises as fulfilled or unfulfilled, I have created a system of a **fulfillment success rate** which is basically the percentage of promises fulfilled in each category. [(the number of promises fulfilled in a specific category / the number of promises in a specific category) x 100] The success rate makes seeing the fulfillment of the presidents in each category easier to see for the reader. In the end, I have also used the success rate to determine the overall success of Donald Trump and Joe Biden in fulfilling their promises.

For the ways a promise was fulfilled, I have created two action categories for legislationmaking: executive directives and Congress legislation referred as traditional legislation-making. Executive directives include executive orders, presidential memorandum, proclamations<sup>59</sup> and any departmental activity. Congress legislation consists of any bill at least introduced in the Senate or the House of Representatives. For Congress legislation to be considered successful in fulfilling a promise, it needs to be passed in both chambers and signed into law by the president. For an executive directive to be successful in fulfilling a promise, it needs not to be facing any judicial block from courts. A promise is considered to be fulfilled through Congress legislation, even if it has one legislation focusing on it, in addition to executive orders. For example, if the president signed an executive order on an issue, and Congress also passed legislation, that promise is considered to be fulfilled through this sorting, I had two categories of fulfillment, and I used the **traditional legislation-making success rate** in the form of [(the number of promises fulfilled through Congress legislation/ the number of promises fulfilled) x 100] to see how successful each president was in navigating traditional legislative-making processes.

For understanding the effect of salience on promise fulfillment, I have decided to Gallup's Most Important Problem Dataset from Policy Agendas Project. <sup>60</sup>The dataset uses Gallup opinion polls on what the most important the U.S. is facing right now with 25 different policy area categories and presents it in an annual format. The data aggregates the answers from the Gallup polls to show the relative importance of each policy category according to poll responders, making the total for the polls 100%. This allows us to understand the importance of each policy area according to the American public. As the data presents, yearly aggregate results in each category, I have decided to take the average of the three years each president was in the office except for the election years. So, for Donald Trump, I averaged the data from the years 2017, 2018, and 2019; for Joe Biden I averaged the data from the years 2021, 2022, and 2023 for each policy areas. These averages then have been used as the salience variable in our regressions for understanding the effect of public opinion on the salience of issues on promise fulfillment and the traditional legislation making.

While the main focus of the study has been salience, I have also decided to add "Pandemic," "Senate Share," and "Fixed Effects" as covariates. For the pandemic variable, I have coded the promises of Joe Biden on whether they were related to the pandemic or not. Out of the thirty-eight promises, four promises have been coded as pandemic related: **Rejoin the World Health Organization (WHO), Forgive student loan debt from public colleges and universities, Rebuild** 

# health stockpiles to be ready for crises, Improve Obamacare, Help state and local governments prevent budget shortfalls.

The make-up of Congress plays an import role in understanding whether the President has higher chances of passing his desired legislation or not. Surprisingly, both presidents had similar levels of party control in Congress. During Trump's presidency, the 115th Congress consisted of 238 Republican Representatives, 197 Democrat Representatives, 51 Republican Senators, and 47 Democrat (plus 2 independent) Senators; <sup>61</sup>allowing a unified Congress under Republican majority. The 116<sup>th</sup> Congress consisted of 197 Republican Representatives, 237 Democrat Representatives, 52 Republican Senators, and 46 Democrat (plus 2 independent) Senators; <sup>62</sup>resulting in a Democrat controlled House and a Republican controlled Senate. Similar to Trump, President Biden enjoyed a unified Congress under Democrat majority as the 117<sup>h</sup> Congress consisted of 215 Republican Representatives, 222 Democrat Representatives, 50 Republican Senators, and 47 Democrat Senators (plus 3 independents and the tie-breaking vote of the Vice-President). <sup>63</sup>As of March 11, 2024, the 118th Congress consists of 219 Republican Representatives, 213 Democrat Representatives, 49 Republican Senators, and 48 Democrat (plus 3 independent) Senators. <sup>64</sup>Just like Donald Trump's Congress after the midterms. Joe Biden is facing a divided Congress with a Republican controlled House and Democrat controlled Senate. To find the party shares during each presidency, I have averaged the number of seats each party controlled in the House and the Senate. During the Trump administration, the House Republican control was 217,5 Representatives, and the Senate Republican control was 51,5 Senators. During the Biden administration, the House Democrat control was 217,5 Representatives, and 50,5 Senators. Seeing that the numbers for House control were identical, I have decided to only include the Senate share as a covariable. However, it is worth noting that both presidents had very similar shares controlled by their parties which can support the idea that they were both in equal standing when it came to the ability to pass legislation.

Each policy area comes with its own set of challenges and tools the presidents can utilize to fulfill their promises. For example, the President draws power from the Constitution to conduct diplomacy and act as the commander-in-chief <sup>65</sup>which makes it easier for presidents to fulfill their promises in the policy area of *international affairs*. The fixed effect covariate allows us to take into

account how some categories by their nature might involve promises that are more likely to be fulfilled.

To understand the role of public opinion on the salience of issues in promise fulfillment, I have created three different regression models. *Model 1* is a linear probability model that uses **salience** as the main variable to see its effect on **promise fulfillment**. *Model 2* is a linear probability model that uses **salience** as the main variable, covariates **pandemic** and **Senate share** as the controls, to see salience's effect on **promise fulfillment**. *Model 3* is our last linear probability model that uses **salience** as the main variable, covariates **pandemic**, and **fixed effects** as the controls, to see salience's effect on **promise fulfillment**.

Similarly, the three regression models are used to understand the role of public opinion on the salience of issues in traditional legislation making conditional on promise fulfilment. *Model 1* is a linear probability model that uses **salience** as the main variable to see its effect on **promise fulfillment through traditional legislation-making**. *Model 2* is a linear probability model that uses **salience** as the main variable, covariates **pandemic** and **Senate share** as the controls, to see salience's effect on **promise fulfillment through traditional legislation-making**. *Model 3* is our last linear probability model that uses **public opinion** as the main variable, covariates **pandemic, Senate share**, and **fixed effects** as the controls, to see salience's effect on **promise fulfillment through traditional legislation-making**.

#### **Campaign Promises and Fulfillment**

• Donald Trump

# **International Affairs**

As a candidate, Donald Trump focused on reducing the burden on the shoulders of the U.S. when it came to international leadership and alliances. He promised changing the Obama era policies the U.S. had with countries like Israel and Cuba. An important emphasis was given to reducing military involvement in places like the Middle East while defeating the Islamic State of Iran and Syria (ISIS) in 30 days.

#### Move U.S. Embassy in Tel Aviv to Jerusalem (Fulfilled)

In his speech at the American Israel Public Affairs Committee, Candidate Trump stated: "We will move the American embassy to the eternal capital of the Jewish people, Jerusalem." He fulfilled his promise on 14 May 2018, when he announced in a recorded video message that the U.S. opened an embassy in Jerusalem.<sup>66</sup>

#### Develop a plan to defeat ISIS in 30 days (Fulfilled)

At a campaign rally, Candidate Donald Trump vowed to defeat ISIS in 30 days and said that "he was expecting to have a thorough plan in his desk once elected to be the president."<sup>67</sup> Then, on 28 January, 2017 Trump issued a presidential memorandum" requesting a plan, and he met with his first defense secretary James Mattis to discuss the plans after a month."<sup>68</sup> Since the promise was to devise a plan and not actually defeat ISIS, the actions done by the Trump administration can be considered to fulfill his promise.

# **Reverse Barack Obama's Cuba Policy (Fulfilled)**

On the campaign trail, Donald Trump repeatedly discussed undoing many Obama-era executive orders and reversing Cuba policies received a critical focus. The Trump administration put in place two significant restrictions in 2017, with one "prohibiting financial transactions to 180 Cuban entities" and the other barring Americans from visiting Cuba through "people to people " travels.<sup>69</sup> These actions reversed the freedoms given under the Obama administration for financial and cultural interactions.

#### Build a safe zone for Syrian refugees (Unfulfilled)

One of the things Donald Trump suggested regarding the U.S. involvement in Syria was the "formation of a safe zone for Syrian refugees on the Syrian land."<sup>70</sup> Not only did President Trump break his promise and not establish any safe zones in Syria, but he also talked many times about his plans for withdrawing the U.S. forces from the region.<sup>71</sup>

#### **Renegotiate the Iran deal (Unfulfilled)**

As a candidate, Trump promised that he would negotiate the nuclear agreement between Iran and five other countries, including the U.S.<sup>72</sup> In May 2018, President Trump announced that the U.S. was withdrawing from the agreement<sup>73</sup> and later signed a presidential memorandum on 5 November 2018, to "impose a second round of sanctions."<sup>74</sup> Even though an agreement can be reached in the future as of the 2020 midterms, President Trump was unable to fulfill his promise.

Foreign policy has been one of the prominent issue areas that have helped President Trump fulfill his campaign promises, as the executive branch holds significant authority over issues pertaining to foreign affairs. Out of the five promises examined, he was able to fulfill three of them, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 60%**. All of the promises he fulfilled were achieved through executive directives (executive orders, presidential memorandum, and proclamations),<sup>75</sup> giving him a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%**. For fulfilling his promises, Trump relied heavily on executive directives rather than legislation passed by Congress.

# Foreign Trade

When it came to foreign trade, Donald Trump's promises focused on reshaping America's trade relationships and prioritizing domestic interests. From withdrawing from multilateral agreements to renegotiating longstanding trade deals, Trump's administration pursued an agenda centered on protecting American workers and companies.

#### **Stop the Trans-Pacific Partnership (Fulfilled)**

Throughout his campaign, Donald Trump strongly opposed the free trade deal between the U.S. and 11 Asia-Pacific countries<sup>76</sup> called the Trans-Pacific Partnership. He put an emphasis on putting the American workers first and "ending a trade agreement that has not been approved by Congress."<sup>77</sup> President Trump fulfilled his promise three days after his inauguration, when he signed a memorandum ordering the withdrawal from the TPP.<sup>78</sup>

## **Renegotiate NAFTA (Fulfilled)**

Similar to TPP, the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) has been a target of criticism during the Trump campaign. He promised that once elected, he would "negotiate better deals for American workers and companies," and if the negotiations were not successful, he would

terminate NAFTA.<sup>79</sup> Before the midterms took place, President Trump was able to hold six negotiation talks and signed the U.S.-Mexico-Canada Agreement as a replacement on January 29, 2020.<sup>80</sup>

#### Raise tariffs on goods imported into the U.S. (Fulfilled)

Tariffs also held a significant place in Trump's agenda as a candidate as they related to putting America first. As a candidate, he was adamant about placing tariffs on Chinese products to boost the domestic economy and fight "currency manipulations" of China.<sup>81</sup> He authorized "a 10% tariff on Chinese imports" in June 2018 in addition to "the 25% tariff imposed" also in June 2018.<sup>82</sup> While the focus was primarily on China, Donald Trump also issued a proclamation in March 2018, "creating a 25% tariff on steel and 10% aluminum."<sup>83</sup>

President Trump's most successful policy category has been foreign trade as he was able to fulfill all of the chosen promises, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 100%** Similar to the international affairs category all of the promises in this category were fulfilled through executive actions, giving him a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%**.

# Education

Donald Trump ran on an education platform that focused on decreasing the federal government's effect on education policy, emphasizing school choice, ending Common Core, and scaling back the Department of Education with little mention of issues pertaining to higher education.<sup>84 85 86 87 88</sup>

#### Ensure funding for historically black colleges (HBCUs) (Fulfilled)

In 2016, candidate Donald Trump announced in a statement that he was going to "ensure funding for historically black colleges and universities." <sup>89</sup> In his fiscal year 2019 budget proposal, President Trump preserved the same funding levels for HBCUs while the "Department of Education was projected to see a 10.5% cut."<sup>90</sup>

## **Eliminate Common Core (Unfulfilled)**

In line with many Republicans, Donald Trump ran on a platform that opposed Common Core and advocated for giving the states and local governments the ability to determine their own curriculum. In April 2017, he signed the Executive Order 13791—Enforcing Statutory Prohibitions on Federal Control of Education<sup>91</sup> which ordered "the Education secretary to review how the federal government can be interfering in local education programs" however, a report has not been published regarding this review and the Common Core has not been eliminated.

## Dramatically scale back the U.S. Education Department (Unfulfilled)

Perhaps the most prominent education issue for Donald Trump during campaigning was removing or scaling back the Department of Education.<sup>92</sup> To further stop the federal government from interfering with education issues and giving states and local governments more of a say, he advocated for eliminating or at least scaling the department to "stop the waste."<sup>93</sup> Former president Barack Obama's 2017 federal budget gave \$68.2 million dollars to the Department of Education in discretionary funding.<sup>94</sup> President Trump proposed in his 2018 federal budget that the department's funding would be reduced by 13%<sup>95</sup>; however, the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 (FY 2018 Bill) did not follow the president's recommendation and "raised discretionary funding to \$70.8 billion."<sup>96</sup> A similar thing happened with the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2019 (FY 2019 Bill).<sup>97</sup> In conclusion, Trump could not convince Congress to follow his budget proposal regarding the Department of Education and education and could not fulfill his promise to scale it back. As for eliminating the Department, on 21 June 2018, the White House announced a federal government reorganization plan that included a merger of the Department of Education and the Department of Labor<sup>98</sup> but Congress refused to include those provisions in the FY2019 bill.<sup>99</sup>

Education did not draw much attention from Donald Trump and never became a focus of his campaign; however, when touched on education, he supported giving more power to the state and local governments and limiting the abilities of the federal government. Out of three education promises examined in this paper, President Trump was able to fulfill one of them by the 2018 midterms, with a **fulfillment success rate of 33.33%**. The promise he fulfilled was accomplished through his FY 2019 budget proposal and FY 2019 Budget Bill, but it can be concluded that the trend in Congress was to expand education funding and this measure would pass even without President Trump's proposal. Two of his education promises focused on stopping federal government interventions, but for those measures to pass, President Trump needed to have the support of

Congress. For eliminating Common Core, President Trump once again needed the support of Congress, but a bill has never come to the floor, and a review he proposed did not get published. For his merger proposal of the Departments of Education and Labor, President Trump received a bipartisan backlash, and lawmakers wrote in a statement that "the conferees are perplexed as to why there was no notification or discussion with members of Congress and committees' staffs on an action of this magnitude that crosses multiple subcommittees' jurisdiction." <sup>100</sup> Overall, President Trump received a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category. This further shows the president's inability to form a meaningful relationship with Congress to support the passage of his proposals and use traditional channels of legislation-making.

#### Social Welfare

Contrary to other Republicans, Donald Trump promised not to make any cuts to Medicare, Medicaid, and Social Security Programs. Additionally, he promised six weeks of paid maternity leave to any mother to further appeal to female voters.

# Make no cuts to Social Security (Fulfilled)

Donald Trump's presidential campaign announcement speech offered protections for Medicaid, Medicare, and Social Security Programs. While he proposed policies that undermined three of those programs, the Social Security Program did not experience any cuts since Congress's FY2019 spending bill did not include<sup>101</sup> the provisions of the White House FY 2019 budget proposal that cut two disability programs under social security.<sup>102</sup>

#### Guarantee 6-week paid leave (Unfulfilled)

Compared to other health issues, paid leaves received less attention from the Donald Trump Campaign, but he promised to "provide six weeks of paid maternity leave to any mother with a newborn child whose employer does not provide the benefit."<sup>103</sup> Sen. Marco Rubio introduced the Economic Security for New Parents Act but the bill did not move further in Congress.<sup>104</sup> President Trump failed to support and ensure the passage of the bill.

Donald was able to fulfill one out of two promises examined in this paper, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 50%.** The only promise he fulfilled was actually achieved because

Congress did not follow President Trump's FY2019 budget proposal for the FY2019 spending bill to cut some provisions of the Social Security Program. Even though it was against the President's budget proposal we can consider it fulfilled through Congress, giving President Trump a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 100%.** 

## Health

The biggest issue Donald Trump ran on when it came to healthcare, and welfare was repealing the Affordable Care Act, best known as Obamacare. The Healthcare Reform Plan Donald Trump proposed focused on repealing Obamacare and changing Medicaid funding to federal block grants, among other things.<sup>105</sup> Compared to the 2020 campaigns, abortion did not pose itself to be a prominent issue during the 2016 campaigns. Even though Donald Trump proposed conflicting views throughout his campaign, towards the end, he stated that he was pro-life and promised to defund Planned Parenthood which has been an ongoing effort from Republicans for some time.

## Make no cuts to Medicare and Medicaid (Unfulfilled)

Protecting Medicare, Medicaid, and Social Security was one of Trump's earliest campaign pledges as he pledged to "save those programs without any cuts in his presidential announcement speech."<sup>106</sup> However, after taking office, President Trump supported the American Health Care Act of 2017<sup>107</sup> that set out to repeal the Affordable Care Act with provisions that cap how much each state receives from the federal government per Medicaid enrollee.<sup>108</sup> Congressional Budget Office Predicts that the "passage of the Bill would result in 14 million fewer Medicaid enrollees and less federal spending on the program,"<sup>109</sup> essentially shrinking it. Even though the American Health Care Act of 2017 failed to pass in the Senate, President Trump, with his support for the bill, broke his promise. In addition, the White House budget proposal for FY2018 called for reforming the system by administering Medicaid through block grants, and the proposal already assumed the passage of the American Health Care Act of 2017.<sup>110</sup> In January 2018, the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services posted a new guideline that "authorized the states to ask for work requirements,"<sup>111</sup> which would place stricter qualifications resulting in fewer people being Medicaid enrollees. As for Medicare, the 2017 Tax Cut and Jobs Act which was President Trump's tax reform bill, "decreased the amount of funding the Medicare's Hospital Insurance Trust Fund receives,"<sup>112</sup> resulting in the program losing three years of solvency.<sup>113</sup> Overall, both Medicaid and Medicare programs shrunk in size during Donald Trump's presidency, and the president acted against these programs through executive orders and support for various Congress bills.

# **Defund Planned Parenthood (Fulfilled)**

Donald Trump as a candidate had confusing rhetoric when it came to abortion, and the issue did not receive the spotlight on the campaign trail.<sup>114</sup> However, in February 2016, he announced that he was pro-life and stated that "he would defund it [Planned Parenthood] because of the abortion factor."<sup>115</sup> There have been several attempts in Congress to defund Planned Parenthood, such as attaching defunding provisions to the omnibus spending bill of 2018<sup>116</sup> and Sen. Rand Paul's amendment to the FY 2019 spending bill failed to pass with 45-48 votes.<sup>117</sup> On February 22, 2019 the Trump administration announced that "it will bar organizations that provide abortion referrals from receiving federal family planning money."<sup>118</sup> One month before the regulation went in place, the Planned Parenthood chose to stop benefiting from Title X, essentially stopping them from getting funding from the federal government.<sup>119</sup>

#### **Repeal Obamacare (Unfulfilled)**

In a Republican fashion, Donald Trump ran a campaign that focused on repealing the Affordable Care Act or better known as Obamacare. He pledged to "repeal and replace the Act," but a more prominent emphasis was given to repealing it.<sup>120</sup> Even though The American Health Care Act of 2017 failed in Congress,<sup>121</sup> spoiling Trump's plans for the repeal, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017" removed the individual mandate that placed a penalty on people that did not buy insurance even though they are able to do so."<sup>122</sup> The bill also opened the door for various lawsuits with a Texas District Court lawsuit,<sup>123</sup> and a prospective Supreme Court case. While Trump could not fulfill his promise of repealing Obamacare, during his administration, Congress was able to get rid of one of the most unpopular provisions of the Act, and the judiciary gained the chance to decide on the future of the Act.

Health and welfare issues have always been important decision-makers for voters, and Donald Trump made sure to offer alternatives when he proposed to repeal Obamacare, however he was still unable to repeal it. Out of the three promises examined, he was able to fulfill one promise giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 33.33%** While it is hard to fully attribute the Planned Parenthood's decision to stop getting payments from the federal government to the Trump administration, it is reasonable to accept this as a promise fulfilled. Two of his promises were unfulfilled because Congress did not pass legislation on repealing Obamacare or offering paid maternity leaves. Overall, President Trump received a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

#### Macroeconomics

One of the key issues during the 2016 presidential race was macroeconomics, and Donald Trump made sure to focus on economic issues during his campaign. Frequently referring to his business background, Trump promised to "Make America Great Again" and restore the economic power of the U.S. and its citizens. He promised to offer tax cuts to every citizen and corporates while making sure the U.S. economy grew every year.

## Cut taxes for everyone (Fulfilled)

Early in his campaign, Donald Trump made sure everyone knew about his plans for tax cuts. "Everybody is getting a tax cut," he announced on a CNN interview.<sup>124</sup> Perhaps the most significant achievement of Donald Trump's presidency was his tax reform bill titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, which successfully passed Congress.<sup>125</sup> According to the analysis of Congress's Joint Committee on Taxation," the bill will allow every income group to pay fewer taxes on average"<sup>126</sup>, indicating that Trump successfully fulfilled his promise. However, the same analysis also mentions that" by 2027 every income group that earns less than 75.000 dollars in a year will actually see a tax increase," meaning that Donald Trump has been able to fulfill his promise in the short-run, but in the long-run, his policies will cause an increase in taxes.<sup>127</sup>

#### Lower the corporate tax rate (Unfulfilled)

As a businessman himself, Donald Trump frequently mentioned the need to remove regulations and taxes that restrict businesses and create an obstacle in front of America's growth. He promised to lower the corporate tax rate from 35% to 15%.<sup>128</sup> The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017

"lowered the corporate tax rate to 21%," and even though it is a significant decrease, it was still not enough to allow Trump to fulfill his promise as he failed to convince Congress of a 15% decrease.

#### Grow the economy by 4 percent a year (Unfulfilled)

"Making America Great Again" oftentimes included increasing the economic growth of the United States, and Donald Trump promised to "increase the U.S.'s gross domestic product (GDP) by 4 percent at least and 5 or 6 percent if possible<sup>129</sup>." The GDP of the U.S. grew by 2.2 percent in 2017, by 2.9 percent in 2018, by 2.3% in 2019 and it shrank by 2.8% in 2020.<sup>130</sup> While the growth rates fell short of Trump's campaign promise, the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the economy caused the country to experience a shrunk GDP for the first time in a decade. While there are a lot of factors that affect the GDP of a country, some economists stated that while Trump's actions on reducing regulations and his The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 could have contributed to economic growth, "his stance on anti-trade and inaction on substantial economic policy changes restricted the growth of the country."<sup>131</sup>

#### Eliminate the federal debt in 8 years (Unfulfilled)

Envisioning a two-term presidency, Donald Trump promised that he was going to "get rid of the then-19 trillion dollars debt."<sup>132</sup> He then changed his promise to "reducing the amount of debt while rebuilding the infrastructure of the country."<sup>133</sup> However, the FY 2018 spending bill allowed "up to 1.5 billion dollars to be added to the debt limit" in order to offset provisions of Trump's Tax Bill.<sup>134135</sup> Not only did Trump fail to get Congress's support for passing legislation that would decrease the debt limit, but his own Tax Bill caused Congress to take action in the opposing direction. In 2016 when Donald Trump took office, "the national debt was 19.573 billion dollars, then it saw an approximate 3.5% increase with 20.245 billion dollars in 2017, another approximate 6.2% increase with 21.516 billion dollars in 2018, another approximate 5.6% increase with 22.719 billion dollars in 2019, and another approximate 18.6% increase with 26.945 billion dollars in 2020."<sup>136</sup> Donald Trump was able to fulfill one out of the four promises this paper examined, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 25%.** He succeeded in achieving this promise through his most prominent

legislative success, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, which cut taxes for every income group,

giving him a traditional legislation-making success rate of 100% in this category.

#### Labor

Similar to his policies pertaining to macroeconomics, Trump followed his motto "Make American Great Again" when it came to labor policies. He promised to protect the interest of the U.S. citizens against foreign countries and immigrants and put American workers first.

# Hire American workers first (Fulfilled)

One of the important slogans of the Donald Trump campaign was "America First," which set out to decrease America's involvement in the international sphere and prioritize the U.S. and its citizens. A lot of the rhetoric during the campaigning focused on giving Americans back their jobs by limiting immigration.<sup>137</sup> President Trump signed an executive order titled "Buy American and Hire American" that directs departments to "suggest reforms for the H-1B visa program" and only hire the most-skilled workers. A 31 March 2017 Memorandum<sup>138</sup> "instructed United States Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) to deny H-1B petitions for many computer-related occupations." The USCIS document titled H-1B RFE Standards<sup>139</sup> and other memos led to many requests of evidence and denials of H-1B visas, with FY2018 seeing a 24% denial rate while the standard was between 5-8% before the Trump administration.<sup>140</sup> All of these were significant executive orders that allowed Trump to fulfill his promise to some degree, but he was unable to help pass anything substantial in Congress.

Donald Trump was able to fulfill the one promise this paper examined, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 100%.** He succeeded in achieving this promise through putting various restrictions on H-1B visa applications, giving him a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

#### **Transportation**

On infrastructure, Donald Trump promised that he would increase the investments in infrastructure and create additional funds for rebuilding America's infrastructure system.

#### Invest \$550 billion in infrastructure and create an infrastructure fund (Unfulfilled)

"The Trump Administration seeks to invest \$550 billion to ensure we can export our goods and move our people faster and safer," stated the campaign website of Donald Trump.<sup>141</sup> On 21 February 2018, the administration released its framework, "Rebuilding Infrastructure in America," to Congress, which included 1.5 trillion dollars of new investments over ten years<sup>142</sup>; however, Congress did not act on it, and no major infrastructure bill was passed during the Trump administration.

Unlike President Biden, Donald Trump was unable to pass a major infrastructure bill or take any executive action, leaving him with a **fulfillment success rate of 0% and** a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

#### Law and Crime

Regularly attacking the Obama administration because of the way they handled crime, Donald Trump promised to reverse Obama-era executive orders and provide security to Americans. He also followed a narrative that tied immigrants to crime and promised to take anti-immigration actions to improve security. As for guns, he followed the typical Republican policies that support eliminating gun-free zones.

#### Reverse Barack Obama's 2016 gun executive order (Fulfilled)

One of the Obama-era executive orders Trump vowed to reverse as a candidate was Obama's 2016 executive order on gun control that implemented measures to increase background checks at its core.<sup>143</sup> On 28 February 2018, President Trump signed the House Joint Resolution 40, nullifying Obama's rule,<sup>144</sup> declaring that "this application of rule could endanger the Second Amendment rights of law-abiding citizens."<sup>145</sup>

#### Impose death penalty for cop killers (Unfulfilled)

Referring to shootings of police officers such as the one in Dallas in 2015, Donald Trump supported "imposing the death penalty for people who kill police officers".<sup>146</sup> However, he has been unable to take action on this issue because of the Supreme Court Case Woodson v. North Carolina (1976), which ruled the mandatory death penalty unconstitutional.<sup>147</sup>

# Eliminate gun-free zones at schools and military bases (Unfulfilled)

Perhaps the most considerable debate regarding gun policy amidst the rising number of school shootings has been gun-free zones.<sup>148</sup> Donald Trump, as a candidate, pledged to "get rid of gun-free zones on schools and military bases early in his campaign."<sup>149</sup> On 3 January 2017, Representative
Thomas Massie introduced the Safe Students Act to repeal the Gun-Free School Zones Act of 1990; however, the bill did not move in Congress. <sup>150</sup> Another legislative push was the Concealed Carry Reciprocity Act of 2017 that, would allow extended concealed carry freedoms; however, after its passage in the House, the bill got stuck in the Senate.<sup>151</sup>

# Cancel all funding of sanctuary cities (Unfulfilled)

"Cities that refuse to cooperate with federal authorities will not receive taxpayer dollars, and we will work with Congress to pass legislation to protect those jurisdictions that do assist federal authorities," said Donald Trump in a campaign rally. <sup>152</sup> On 25 January, 2017, President Trump signed an executive order directing the Department of Justice to withhold federal grant money from sanctuary cities that protect undocumented immigrants.<sup>153</sup> Many federal judges ruled the executive order to be unconstitutional <sup>154</sup>as the Supreme Court case South Dakota v. Dole (1987) ruled that the federal government cannot threaten state and local governments with withholding funding.<sup>155</sup> On the legislative front, the No Sanctuary for Criminals Act passed the House on 29 June 2017, but got stuck in the Senate.<sup>156</sup>

Even though Donald Trump put a strong emphasis on reducing crime, he was able to fulfill only one of his promises which gives him a **fulfillment success rate of 25%.** He was able to fulfill that promise through executive directives that reversed Obama-era executive orders. Two of his promises faced judicial block since the Supreme Court case South Dakota v. Dole (1987) prevented him from withholding funding from sanctuary cities and the Supreme Court Case Woodson v. North Carolina (1976) deterred him from imposing mandatory death penalty for people charged with killing police officers. His promise of eliminating gun-free zones in schools and military areas was left unfilled because Congress did not pass the necessary legislation. He received a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

#### Immigration

The issue of immigration became synonymous with the Donald Trump campaign, as many voters came to know him through his promises to regulate immigration and the promises of building a

wall on the Southern border. In addition to limiting immigration, Donald Trump promised to establish a "Muslim ban," end birthright citizenship and remove undocumented immigrants.

#### Limit legal immigration (Fulfilled)

The biggest platform Donald Trump ran on was immigration, and he attracted many voters by promising to limit both legal and illegal immigration. In the last fiscal year of the Obama administration (2016), "the refugee cap was set at 85,000"; Donald Trump decreased it to "50,000 for 2017" and "30,000 for 2018 and 2019" which is "the lowest the cap has ever been since the 1980s."

# Remove criminal undocumented immigrants (Unfulfilled)

Throughout his campaign, Donald Trump talked a lot about the connection between immigrants and crime and the need to provide security to Americans<sup>158</sup>. In addition to his promise that he was going to stop illegal immigration, he also vowed to "deport undocumented immigrants with criminal records." <sup>159</sup> The U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement stated that in FY2017 the U.S." deported more than 127,699 immigrants with criminal convictions while the number rose to 145,262 in FY2018".<sup>160</sup> However, since he promised to deport "deport all criminal aliens" and fell short, he was unable to fulfill his promise.<sup>161</sup>

#### Establish a ban on Muslims entering the U.S. (Unfulfilled)

"Donald J. Trump is calling for a total and complete shutdown of Muslims entering the United States until our country's representatives can figure out what the hell is going on," said Donald Trump early in his campaign.<sup>162</sup> Once elected, Donald Trump signed several executive directives to limit people from Muslim countries entering to the U.S. Executive Order 13769 placed restrictions on "citizens of Iran, Iraq, Libya, Somalia, Sudan, Syria, and Yemen"<sup>163</sup> but after protests and legal challenges the Executive Order 13780 removed Iraq.<sup>164</sup> Then, the Presidential Proclamation 9645 added Chad to the list while Sudan was removed.<sup>165</sup> All of these executive directives were labeled under the "Muslim bans." The Supreme Court case Trump, President of the United States v. Hawaii (2017) ruled that "the administration was not discriminating based on religion," and the Executive Order 13769 was constitutional.<sup>166</sup> While President Trump took significant steps to restrict people from Muslim countries entering the U.S., he promised "the complete shutdown of Muslims entering the country" and failed to do that.

#### End birthright citizenship (Unfulfilled)

Donald Trump's campaign website referred to birthright citizenship as "the biggest magnet or illegal immigration."<sup>167</sup> Once elected, "you can definitely do it with an act of Congress, but now they're saying I can do it just with an executive order," Trump said in an October 2018 interview.<sup>168</sup> However, there haven't been any executive directives on this issue by the 2018 midterms. Representative Steve King introduced the Birthright Citizenship Act of 2017 on 3 January 2017,<sup>169</sup> to amend the Immigration and Nationality Act<sup>170</sup> in a way that an individual would "only become a citizen if one of the parents was a U.S. citizen, lawful permanent resident or immigrant in active service in the U.S. armed forces." With no executive directives and the failure of the bill to advance in Congress, this promise has been broken.

# Build a wall, and make Mexico pay for it (Unfulfilled)

Perhaps the most well-known campaign promise of Donald Trump, building a wall took up a lot of space during the campaigning process as well as the presidency. He advocated for stronger border security on the southern border to decrease illegal immigration and drug trafficking. To prevent these activities, Donald Trump promised that he was going to "build a wall on the Mexico-U.S. border and make Mexico pay for the cost of that wall."<sup>171</sup> In March 2018, the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2018 gave the federal government "1.57 billion dollars for barriers," but the funding has not been available for the wall. <sup>172</sup> Going into the midterms of 2018, President Trump said "he was going to refuse any spending bill that did not include funding for the wall," threatening to shut down the government, however the Trump administration only managed to replace the barriers.<sup>173</sup> Overall, President Trump has been unable to fulfill his promise of building the wall and making Mexico pay for it.

While he put a lot of emphasis on immigration issues during campaigning, as a President, Donald Trump was able to fulfill one out of five promises which gives him a **fulfillment success rate of 20%.** He was able to fulfill this promise through executive directives that put the lowest refugee cap since the 1980s had been set. One of his promises was not fully fulfilled because President Trump failed to achieve a "full shutdown of Muslims entering the U.S," even though he signed several executive orders toward fulfilling that promise. Two of his promises were left unfulfilled since Congress did not include funding in the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2018 to be used for the wall on the Southern border and did not move the legislation on ending birthright citizenship, giving him a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

## Environment

Generally following a rhetoric that focused on restoring jobs, improving the U.S. economy, and attacking international cooperation, Candidate Donald Trump did not include any promises to tackle climate change, something he did not believe existed. His promises generally concentrated on withdrawing from international institutions and agreements that focus on climate change. He also wanted to scale back the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).

# **Cancel the Paris climate agreement (Fulfilled)**

While candidate Trump proposed various promises regarding climate change and environmental deregulations, pulling out from the Paris Climate Agreement has been one of the promises that garnered significant attention. In a campaign event in May 2016, he laid out his climate and environment policies and announced that he was "going to cancel the Paris Climate Agreement and stop all payments of U.S. tax dollars to U.N. global warming programs."<sup>174</sup> On 1 June 2017, he was able to fulfill his promise of pulling the U.S. out of the Paris Agreement.<sup>175</sup>

#### Stop payments to U.N. global warming programs (Unfulfilled)

As for the global warming payments, Donald Trump did not include them in his budget proposals; however, the Senate Appropriations Committee passed an amendment to continue contributions to the U.N. Framework Convention on Climate Change and Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change despite the president's decision to stop funding it.<sup>176</sup> Further showing Congress' persistence in ignoring Trump's budget proposals and continuing to fund climate change programs.

#### Dramatically scale back the EPA (Unfulfilled)

On the campaign trail, Donald Trump often mentioned his disdain for the Department of Environmental Protection and shared his plans to "dramatically scale back it."<sup>177</sup> In his FY2018

budget proposal, the agency funding would have been cut by 2.6 billion dollars (31% decrease), ending or reducing various EPA programs. <sup>178</sup> Additionally, the administration proposed cuts to the EPA budget in every fiscal year, but the budget nearly stayed the same every year as decided by Congress.<sup>179</sup>

Donald Trump showed a low performance when it came to fulfilling his promises on climate and energy issues. He was able to fulfill only one promise, out of the three examined in this paper, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 33.33%**. The single promise he succeeded in fulfilling was starting the process of withdrawing from the Paris Climate Agreement, which was done through an executive directive. Two of his promises were left unfilled as Congress did not include the requests made to scale back EPA and U.N. Climate Funds in President's FY2018 budget proposal. He received a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

# Energy

On the campaign trail, Donald Trump focused on energy as a way of improving the American independence and economy. Similar to other Republicans, he also followed the rhetoric of "Coal Keeps the Light on," and went against the War on Coal.

# Achieve energy independence (Unfulfilled)

"Complete American energy independence, complete complete," stated Donald Trump in a 2016 campaign event. <sup>180</sup> As the president, Donald Trump signed several executive directives to "auction 77 millions of actress for drilling", "rescind the Clean Power Plan", and "approve the Keystone XL pipeline."<sup>181</sup> Even though these were prominent actions that will make it "easier in the long run to produce oil and natural gas,"<sup>182</sup> they are unable to provide the "complete" energy independence Donald Trump promised.

#### Save the coal industry (Unfulfilled)

A key promise for Donald Trump's victory in states like Wyoming, Pennsylvania, and West Virginia was saving the coal industry and ensuring that miners did not go unemployed.<sup>183</sup> Trump with Congress (H.J. Res 38 on 16 February 2017)<sup>184</sup> was able to revoke the Stream Protection Rule that "restricts coal mining operations along rivers and streams." <sup>185</sup> An executive order passed in March

2017 started "dismantling the Clean Power Plant and lifted a ban on new coal leases."<sup>186</sup> Since Donald Trump took office, 600 coal mining jobs have been created, and a slight increase in production. Even though President Trump made various efforts with Congress and through executive directives, he could not "save" the coal industry as was his promise.

He was unable to fulfill his promises of saving the coal industry and achieving energy independence, even though he took significant actions in the form of executive directives and Congress passed a resolution related to the Stream Protection Rule. As a result, he received a **fulfillment success rate of 0%** and a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

#### Government Operations

On the campaign trail, Donald Trump generally went against "the establishment" and advocated for a small government that included scaling back federal departments and fewer federal regulations. He also promised to nominate the next Supreme Court Justice to replace Justice Antonin Scalia.

# Slash federal regulations (Fulfilled)

In line with his anti-establishment rhetoric, Donald Trump often mentioned his plans to "scale back federal regulations because they stop businesses from growing" and announced that he planned to "eliminate two existing regulations for every new one."<sup>187</sup> On 30 January 2017, President Trump signed an executive order that" directed two regulations to be eliminated for every new one." <sup>188</sup>

# Nominate someone from his list of justices to replace Antonin Scalia (Fulfilled)

With the death of the Supreme Court Justice Antonin Scalia before the presidential primaries and Senate Majority leader Mitch McConnel's announcement that the confirmation hearing would be set after the presidential elections, Donald Trump promised that he was going to "appoint someone similar to Scalia from his very own list." <sup>189</sup> Within two weeks of his presidency Donald Trump nominated Judge Neil Gorsuch was confirmed as the 101st justice of the Supreme Court on 7 April 2017.<sup>190</sup> In fulfilling his promises regarding various governmental activities, President Trump has been successful in fulfilling two of his promises, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 100%**. He had been able to fulfill his promise to nominate a new Supreme Court Justice, which is an authority given to the executive branch, and he signed an executive order to eliminate two existing regulations when a new one is signed. He received a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

# • Joe Biden

#### International Affairs

Criticizing President Trump's actions that isolated the U.S. from various international institutions and treaties, restoring the American leadership in the international arena has been one of the most prominent promises of the Biden campaign. Joe Biden promised to rejoin the World Health Organization, restore relationships with Cuba and continue working with the U.S. allies on issues such as North Korea's denuclearization. He also wanted to restore the U.S.'s role in aiding other countries while aiming to end wars in the Middle East.

# **Rejoin the World Health Organization (WHO) (Fulfilled)**

Donald Trump's state department announced on 6 July 2021, that the U.S. was going to end its relationship with the WHO amidst the COVID-19 pandemic<sup>191</sup>. On the campaign trail, Biden talked about the importance of the U.S. leadership in tackling the pandemic and collaboration through international organizations.<sup>192</sup> Technically, the U.S. did not leave the WHO but just started the withdrawal process under former president Trump. On the first day of his presidency, Joe Biden sent a letter to the United Nations (UN) Secretary General stating that "the United States intends to remain a member of the World Health Organization."<sup>193</sup>

## End the war in Afghanistan (Fulfilled)

"Biden will bring the vast majority of our troops home from Afghanistan and narrowly focus our mission on Al-Qaeda and ISIS," stated Biden's campaign website. <sup>194</sup> Declaring that "the war in Afghanistan was over," President Biden ordered the withdrawal of American forces from Afghanistan by 11 September 2021.<sup>195</sup> While the U.S. influence in the region ended, the Taliban returned to power after the U.S. withdrawal<sup>196</sup> and violated the human rights of many Afghans.<sup>197</sup> Even though this has been one of the most controversial actions of President Biden, he was still able to fulfill his promise of "ending the war in Afghanistan."

# **Resume ties with the Palestinian Authority (Fulfilled)**

As a candidate, Joe Biden promised to reverse the Trump-era decision of ceasing relations with the Palestinian Authority.<sup>198</sup> The UN representative Richard Mills announced in January 2021 that the administration would "restore credible U.S. engagement with Palestinians as well as Israelis.<sup>199</sup> Biden also resumed various forms of assistance such as "reducing food insecurity or 4G digital connectivity as well as funding."<sup>200</sup> Even though he failed to re-open the consulate in Jerusalem,<sup>201</sup> Biden achieved some progress in fulfilling his promise. Since the start of the war between Israel and Hamas on October 7<sup>th</sup>, 2023, the U.S. sent several envoys to Palestine to relay the message that the Palestinian Authority needs to be revamped and continued to have diplomatic ties with PA while mainly backing Israel.<sup>202</sup>

## **Restore Cuba engagement (Fulfilled)**

The progress that was made during the Obama administration with Cuba had been set back under Trump's presidency. As a candidate, Joe Biden promises that he would "in large part" go back to Obama-era policies. <sup>203</sup> Some of the regulatory actions President Biden took to improve relationships with Cuba were" reinstating the Cuban Family Reunification Parole, resuming educational travels, removing the family remittances, and supporting Cuban entrepreneurs." <sup>204</sup>

# Provide assistance to Northern Triangle countries (Unfulfilled)

Seeing immigration as a spherical issue that results from a lot of people coming to the United States to escape the rough conditions in their own countries, Biden promised to get to the root of the problem and offer assistance to Northern Triangle countries which are Guatemala, Honduras, and El Salvador. He promised "a four year 4-billion-dollar package of assistance to the region" to decrease levels of violence, improve the education systems and implement anti-corruption measures. <sup>205</sup> The Biden-proposed immigration bill <u>The U.S. Citizenship Act of 2021</u> included the promised 4 billion dollar assistance to Northern Triangle countries and other significant provisions to reform the

immigration system. However, the Bill had been referred to the Subcommittee on Immigration and Citizenship in July 2022, and no action had taken place after that day, leaving Joe Biden unable to fulfill his promise.

#### Rejoin Iran nuclear deal (Unfulfilled)

In 2016, then-candidate Donald Trump promised to" renegotiate the Iran nuclear deal" and then went on to withdraw from the agreement.<sup>206</sup> In 2020, Joe Biden promised that he was going to" rejoin the agreement if Iran agreed to comply with the deal."<sup>207</sup> On 12 October 2022, the U.S. State Department announced that rejoining the deal was not a priority as Iran's demands were unrealistic.<sup>208</sup> **Join allies to negotiate with North Korea on denuclearization (Unfulfilled)** 

With growing tensions between North Korea and the U.S., Biden promised to take coordinated action with allies to negotiate a denuclearization deal. <sup>209</sup> However, the administration has decided to change course, and instead of seeking a deal, they decided to use the policy of "offering relief for particular steps."<sup>210</sup>

Similar to Donald Trump, President Biden also has been able to fulfill the majority of his foreign affairs promises since the president enjoys vast authority when it comes to setting foreign policy. President Biden fulfilled four of the seven promises the paper examined, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 57.14%.** All of the promises he fulfilled were achieved through executive directives and his promises focused on withdrawing the U.S. troops from Afghanistan and resuming ties with Palestine, rejoining the WHO, and restoring engagement with Cuba, giving him **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

## Education

Joe Biden ran on an education platform that focused on accessibility and creating new opportunities for students to continue their education. He promised to make public colleges and universities tuition-free for low-income students in addition to doubling the maximum amount of Pell Grants. Perhaps the most important promise for many students in the country was the forgiveness of student debt from public colleges and universities.

# Forgive student loan debt from public colleges and universities (Fulfilled)

Student debt attracted a lot of attention during the campaigning process as a lot of students found themselves unable to pay their loans because of the pandemic. In a March 2020 tweet, Biden stated that "we should forgive a minimum of \$10,000/person of federal student loans, as proposed by Senator Warren and colleagues."<sup>211</sup> On 24 August 2022, President Biden signed an executive order that "would waive \$10,000 of student loan debt for individuals earning less than \$125,000 or couples earning less than \$250,000." <sup>212</sup> However, the student debt relief program has been challenged in several courts, and <sup>213</sup> the Supreme Court ruled that the president did not have the authority to cancel student loans in Biden v. Nebraska (2022) case in February 2023<sup>214215</sup> On October 3<sup>rd</sup>, 2023, President Biden announced new initiatives that would bring "an additional \$9 billion in relief for 125,000

# Make public colleges and universities tuition-free for families who make less than \$125,000 (Unfulfilled)

Education had been an important policy area during Biden's campaign, and he especially ran on making education more accessible. His campaign promised to "make public colleges and universities free for families with an income below 125.000 dollars" as part of his Build Back Better Plan.<sup>217</sup> During his presidency, Biden proposed the American Families Plan that included provisions of paid leave, free college and university education for low-income families, and lowered health insurance premiums. <sup>218</sup> The American Families Plan later turned into the Inflation Reduction Act,<sup>219</sup> however, Biden was unable to convince Congress to add the free college education provisions to the Bill, ultimately failing to fulfill his promise. In his 2024 fiscal year budget, a \$500 million investment in free community college was included but the Congress is yet to act on the matter.<sup>220</sup>

#### **Double value of Pell Grants (Unfulfilled)**

Pell Grants, "a subsidy provided generally to undergraduate students with financial needs," had been included in Joe Biden's Build Back Better Plan while campaigning.<sup>221</sup> The plan promised to "double the amount of Pell Grants and increase the number of students that are participating in the program."<sup>222</sup> On 15 March 2022, President Biden signed the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2022 that included the provision of "increasing the maximum Pell Grant with 400 dollars for the 2022-2023 school year,<sup>223</sup> which was the biggest increase since the 2009-2010 school year.<sup>224</sup> Even though the Biden administration was able to sign into law one of the biggest increases, the maximum Pell grant now sits at "6,895 dollars for a school year" but doubling the maximum amount for the 2020-21 school year would be around 12,390 dollars. Additionally, Biden proposed an increase of 820 for Pell Grants in his 2024 fiscal year budget but even with that increase he falls short on fulfilling his promise.<sup>225</sup>

President Biden had been able to fulfill the same number of promises as Donald Trump by fulfilling one promise out of three, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 33.33%.** He was able to fulfill his promise of canceling some amount of student debt through an executive order, giving him a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category. As for the other two promises, President Biden had been unable to convince Congress to include free tuition and Pell Grant increases in legislation such as the Inflation Reduction Act and the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2022.

#### Health

Running for the presidency in the middle of a pandemic necessitated that Joe Biden focuses a lot on healthcare and welfare issues. Even though this paper does not include promises related to fighting COVID-19 specifically, President Biden focused on rebuilding stocks against supply chain disruptions. Showing his support for abortion even though he had conflicting views throughout his life, he promised to codify the landmark Supreme Court case Roe v. Wade (1973) and fund Planned Parenthood. He also advocated for improving Obamacare and guaranteeing paid sick leaves.

# **Rebuild health stockpiles to be ready for crises (Fulfilled)**

Campaigning amidst a global pandemic, Joe Biden made various promises on healthcare issues. One of the promises under the Made in America Plan was making sure the U.S. was ready for future crises through "rebuilding critical health stockpiles." <sup>226</sup> The Biden administration took several actions in the form of executive orders to fulfill their promises. The Supply Chain Disruptions Task Force was created to "address short-term supply chain disruptions."<sup>227</sup> The executive order A Sustainable Public Health Supply Chain directed the "securing of necessary supplies for the COVID-19 pandemic".<sup>228</sup> Another executive order titled Ensuring the Future Is Made in All of America by All of America's Workers "tasked the federal government to provide assistance to American companies and established the Made in America Office."<sup>229</sup> Lastly, the executive order America's Supply Chains "created a year-long review process for six different sectors" to find which products manufacturers rely on to be imported. <sup>230</sup> All of these executive orders allowed the President to take significant steps toward fulfilling his promise.

#### **Restore federal funding for Planned Parenthood (Fulfilled)**

While former President Trump was unable to fulfill his promise of defunding Planned Parenthood by the 2018 midterms; he was able to defund it with a 2019 federal regulation.<sup>231</sup> On the campaigning trail, Biden promised to "reverse that decision and allow Planned Parenthood to receive Title X funds."<sup>232</sup> On 7 October 2021, Biden issued a final rule to overturn former President Trump's federal regulation. <sup>233</sup> After receiving no Title X funds between 2020 and 2021, the organization received them in 2022, after the Biden administration lifted the restrictions. <sup>234</sup>

# **Improve Obamacare (Fulfilled)**

As Barack Obama's Vice President, Joe Biden supported the Affordable Care Act (Obamacare) and found it to be a "big deal." <sup>235</sup> Since then, he has been against efforts to repeal it, and he announced in a campaign event that he was "not only going to restore it but also build on it."<sup>236</sup> On 11 March 2021, President Joe Biden signed the American Rescue Plan Act into law, and the law includes several provisions related to Obamacare, such as "expanding healthcare coverage to middleincome Americans who did not qualify before and increasing aid for low-income Americans." <sup>237</sup>

# Guarantee 7 days of paid sick leave (Unfulfilled)

On the campaign trail, Biden showed support for the Healthy Families Act <sup>238</sup>and promised to "make paid sick leave permanent." <sup>239</sup> 7-day paid leave was proposed in the Build Back Better Act; however, since the Act turned into the Inflation Reduction Act some provisions were left out, such as this promise.<sup>240</sup> President Biden failed to convince Congress to include the seven days paid sick leave provision in the Inflation Reduction Act.

#### Work to codify Roe v. Wade (Unfulfilled)

Abortion has been one of the most important issues during the 2020 presidential election cycle. Even though Joe Biden had differing views on abortion throughout his political career,<sup>241</sup> he

promised to "codify the Supreme Court decision Roe v. Wade."<sup>242</sup> In September 2021, the House passed the Women's Health Protection Act; however, the Senate version of the bill failed to garner enough support from Republicans and failed. <sup>243</sup> On 24 June 2022, the Supreme Court overturned Roe v. Wade (1973) with the Dobbs v. Jackson Women's Health Organization (2022) decision.<sup>244</sup>

President Biden had been successful in fulfilling more than the majority of his promises related to healthcare and welfare as he fulfilled three promises out of five, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 60%.** Two of the fulfilled promises were achieved through executive directives, as President Biden restored Title X funding to Planned Parenthood and created a Supply Chain Disruptions Task Force in addition to other measures to rebuild healthcare stocks. His promise to improve Obamacare was achieved when Congress passed the American Rescue Plan Act, which includes expanding Obamacare coverage to many middle-income families. He was unable to fulfill two promises as Congress did not include the 7-day paid sick leave in the Inflation Reduction Act and failed to pass the Women's Health Protection Act to codify Roe v. Wade. As a result, he received a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 33.33%** in this category.

# Macroeconomics

As the COVID-19 pandemic disrupted economic activities, the need for governmental support increased. In addition, the economy as an issue has always been important for voters so Joe Biden promised to take action on issues ranging from increasing government support to no tax increases. Joe Biden also emphasized "Made in America" rules and gave promises that would prioritize American products and materials.

#### Help state and local governments prevent budget shortfalls (Fulfilled)

During the pandemic, Democrats in Congress tried to pass a bill that would provide financial assistance to state and local governments, but Republicans, with their majority in the Senate, refused to act on this issue. As a result, candidate Joe Biden promised to" establish a renewable fund for state and local governments."<sup>245</sup> Congress passed the American Rescue Plan in March 2021, and the legislation included 195.3 billion dollars in funding to states and 130.2 billion dollars in funding to local governments in addition to territories and tribal governments.<sup>246</sup>

#### No tax increase for anyone making less than \$400,000 (Fulfilled)

While Donald Trump promised no new taxes for every income group, candidate Biden kept his promise limited to "anyone making less than 400.000 dollars per year."<sup>247</sup> No legislation was passed that would increase taxes for anyone with an income below 450.000. President Biden's 2024 fiscal year budget includes a provision that would "lower after-tax incomes by an average of about \$2,300 next year," allowing him to fulfill his promise when it comes to direct taxes.<sup>248</sup>

# Award federal contracts to companies that make all products in US (Fulfilled)

As efforts to protect American industries became a significant concern with growing geopolitical dynamics and supply chain disruptions, candidate Joe Biden promised that "federal contracts would be given to American contractors that use American-made products."<sup>249</sup> The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (otherwise known as Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act) that was passed in November 2021 "allowed many infrastructure projects to be created through federal grants targeted at American businesses."<sup>250</sup> President Biden also signed an executive order in his first week of the presidency that "aimed at reducing the loopholes that allow government agencies to buy foreign-made goods."<sup>251</sup> Both the executive order and the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law allowed Biden to fulfill his promise.

#### Tighten "Made in America" rules (Fulfilled)

Going against the previous 51% requirements for products to be considered "made in America," Joe Biden promised to "tighten the requirements and increase the number of American materials and products used."<sup>252</sup>The Build America Buy America Act, which requires "that all of the iron, steel, manufactured products, and construction materials used in infrastructure projects be produced in the United States," has been passed as part of the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law. <sup>253</sup> In addition, the Federal Acquisition Regulatory Council stated on 7 March 2022, that" the requirement of 55% products being American will be increased to 60% in 2022 and 65% in 2024."<sup>254</sup> Both through legislation and departmental action, President Biden has been able to tighten Made in America rules and increase the requirements for American products and materials.

#### **Raise corporate tax rate to 28% (Unfulfilled)**

Highly criticizing Donald Trump for lowering the corporate tax rate to 21%, Biden promised to "raise it to 28%." <sup>255</sup>The Inflation Reduction act does not include any provisions with a corporate rate, but it imposes a "corporate alternative minimum tax" on businesses with more than 1 billion dollars in annual profit.<sup>256</sup> President Biden's FY2024 budget proposes an increase in the corporate tax from 21% to 28% and the House Ways and Means Committee will be holding a hearing about the FY2024 budget on March 10, 2024.<sup>257</sup> Even though alternative minimum tax provisions were passed and the FY2024 budget includes the campaign promise, for now, President Biden failed to fulfill his goal of raising the corporate tax rate to 28%.

When it comes to promises related to the economy, President Biden had a successful run as he was able to fulfill four of the five promises examined in this paper, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 80%.** All of the four promises Biden fulfilled had Congress action taken on them, in addition to two of them having executive orders related to them. The American Rescue Plan, the Inflation Reduction Act, and the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law were three significant pieces of legislation passed under the Biden administration to achieve the promises given on the campaign trail, giving him a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 100%** in this category.

# Labor

On the campaign trail, Joe Biden showed support for the 15-dollar federal minimum wage, becoming one of his most popular promises.

## Increasing the federal minimum wage to \$15 per hour (Unfulfilled)

Minimum wage has been a point of debate for a long time, with many advocating for a 15dollar federal minimum wage. Joe Biden also showed support for the 15-dollar federal minimum wage and included the provision under his American Rescue Plan.<sup>258</sup> Senate Democrats decided to pass the American Rescue Plan under "budget reconciliation rules" in order to allow it to be passed with a simple majority;<sup>259</sup> however, the Senate Parliament barred the federal minimum wage provision from being included as a budget reconciliation rule.<sup>260</sup> In the end, the final version of the American Rescue Plan did not include anything about the federal minimum wage. However, President Biden had been unable to pass one of the most popular promises since Congress did not include a federal minimum wage requirement provision in the American Rescue Plan, leaving him with a **fulfillment success rate of 0%** and a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

# Law and Crime

Drawing attention to the U.S.'s gun violence epidemic, Joe Biden gave promises that would limit the usage of guns and ammunition in addition to strict background checks. In addition, he opposed the federal death penalty and supported decriminalizing marijuana.

# Eliminate the federal death penalty (Unfulfilled)

As a candidate, Biden advocated for eliminating the death penalty at the federal level and mentioned that "over 160 individuals who received the death penalty have later been exonerated." <sup>261</sup> After 13 people were executed during Trump's presidency, Biden's Attorney General issued a moratorium and withdrew several requests for the death penalty. <sup>262</sup> However, since that decision, the government has asked for the death penalty in a district court and a Supreme Court case. <sup>263</sup> Not only did Biden fail to fulfill his promise, but he also broke his promise by asking for the death penalty to be implemented in several cases.

# Ban the manufacture and sale of assault weapons and high-capacity magazines (Unfulfilled)

With school shootings on the rise and a growing debate on gun control, candidate Biden announced that he was going to "enact legislation to ban assault weapons" and "high capacity magazines."<sup>264</sup> While the Assault Weapons Ban of 2022 had been introduced in both chambers of Congress, it only managed to attract Democrat votes causing the bill to pass in the House but fail in the Senate.<sup>265</sup> President Biden and Democrats failed to get support from Republicans and fulfill this promise. On February 15, 2024, President Biden urged the American public "to support his call to Congress to ban assault weapons," after a deadly shooting occurred in a Super Bowl parade.<sup>266</sup>

#### Require background checks for all gun sales (Unfulfilled)

Another part of Biden's gun safety plan included "requiring background checks for all gun sales to close the loopholes in the system."<sup>267</sup> In March 2021, the House passed the Bipartisan

Background Checks Act of 2021, which would "require background checks before someone buys or transfers a gun from a private seller." <sup>268</sup> Similar to the Assault Weapons Ban of 2022, the Bipartisan Background Checks Act of 2021 did not receive passage from Congress as it never was voted on in the Senate. In March 2023, the President "signed an executive order to direct the Attorney General to strengthen the universal background checks" <sup>269</sup> Even though several executive actions were passed by the administration, the Congress is yet to pass a substantial act requiring background checks for all gun sales.

#### Decriminalize marijuana (Unfulfilled)

While Joe Biden has been known to have a stricter view on the use of marijuana throughout his political career,<sup>270</sup> his campaign website listed "decriminalize the use of cannabis" as one of his promises. <sup>271</sup> While the President has not taken any action to decriminalize marijuana at the federal level yet, on 6 October 2022, he announced that he would "pardon anyone with a federal conviction of simple possession of marijuana."<sup>272</sup> While this is a step towards decriminalizing marijuana, he still fell short of fulfilling his promise.

Law and crime is a policy area President Biden failed to fulfill any promises in, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 0%** and a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category. One of the promises could have been fulfilled through executive directives; however, Biden broke his own promise when the administration asked for the death penalty as a sentence in several cases. As for the other three promises, Biden failed to convince Congress to pass legislation that would decriminalize marijuana, ban the manufacture and sale of assault weapons, and stricter background checks since legislation such as the Bipartisan Background Checks Act of 2021 and the Assault Weapons Ban of 2022 failed to get enough votes in the Senate.

#### Immigration

Criticizing many actions of former President Donald Trump, Joe Biden promised to reverse many of those "cruel policies." He promised to rescind the highly controversial "Muslim bans" and reverse family separation policies. Joe Biden also promised to pass a comprehensive immigration reform that would create pathways to citizenship for many undocumented immigrants in the country. He also wanted to increase the refugee cap and the number of immigration judges within the justice system.

## Immediately rescind the "Muslim bans" (Fulfilled)

During the campaigning process, Biden promises to "immediately rescind the Muslim bans of Donald Trump<sup>273</sup>. On his first day of office, President Biden revoked Muslim ban executive directives that the Trump administration passed through a proclamation that removed the restrictions for Muslim countries.<sup>274</sup>

#### **Reverse family separation policies (Fulfilled)**

As a candidate, Biden often criticized Donald Trump's family separation policies and "finding those actions to be cruel and senseless; he promised to reverse those policies."<sup>275</sup> With a 26 January 2021 memorandum, Biden's Attorney General "rescinded the Trump-era zero-tolerance policy." <sup>276</sup>

# Increase refugee admissions (Fulfilled)

Biden promised to "set the annual refugee admissions at 125.000" in 2021 and aimed to raise it with time. <sup>277</sup> On 8 October 2021, Biden signed a memorandum to "set the annual refugee admissions at up to 125.000"<sup>278</sup> and on 27 September 2022, signed another memorandum to "set the cap to 125.000 once again for 2023."<sup>279</sup>

# Create a pathway to citizenship for nearly 11 million people (Unfulfilled)

While campaigning Joe Biden put an emphasis on passing immigration reform that will "allow 11 million undocumented immigrations living in the U.S. to have citizenship."<sup>280</sup> President Biden proposed the U.S. Citizenship Act of 2021 on his first day in office and the bill was formally introduced in the House. The bill, if passed, would "offer an expedited three-year path to citizenship to some farmworkers, Dreamers and people who currently benefit from a Temporary Protected Status designation.<sup>281</sup> However, the Bill had been referred to the Subcommittee on Immigration and Citizenship in July 2022, and no action had taken place after that day, leaving Joe Biden unable to fulfill his promise.

# Double the number of immigration judges and staff (Unfulfilled)

Stating that there is "a backlog of more than one million immigration cases," Joe Biden promised to double the number of immigration judges and their staff. <sup>282</sup> When Biden became the President, there were roughly 500 immigration judges<sup>283</sup>; in the next year, 71 new immigration judges were seated <sup>284</sup>, and by 2023 that number was 634 which correlates to approximately 23% increase, Biden unable to fulfill his promise.<sup>285</sup>

President Biden had been able to fulfill three of his five promises related to immigration and citizenship, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 60%.** All three promises were fulfilled thanks to executive directives that reversed the "Muslim bans," increased the refugee cap and changed family separation policies. Even though he showed some effort, President Biden was unable to sit around 200 new immigration judges. As for immigration reforms, President Biden proposed the U.S. Citizenship Act of 2021, but the bill had been unable to move in Congress. As a result, he received **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

# Environment

As a presidential candidate, Joe Biden emphasized the importance of restoring the U.S. leadership in tackling climate change by rejoining the Paris Climate Agreement and achieving netzero emissions by 2050.

# **Rejoin the Paris Climate Agreement (Fulfilled)**

Similar to rejoining the World Health Organization, candidate Biden promised to rejoin the Paris Climate Agreement on the first day of his administration.<sup>286</sup> The promise was another way of showing that Biden valued restoring the U.S.'s reputation in the international arena and willingness to be the leader in tackling climate change. On the first day of his presidency, President Biden signed the agreement that would make "the U.S. a party to the Paris Climate Agreement" once again.<sup>287</sup>

#### Put US on a course to net-zero emissions by 2050 (Fulfilled)

Seeing climate change as an existential threat, Biden often talked about enabling the U.S. leadership in leading the fight against it. <sup>288</sup> He also promised to put the U.S. "on track to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050." President Biden achieved his goal of taking significant actions for net-zero emissions when the Inflation Reduction Act passed Congress and became a law. The Inflation

Reduction Act included "260 billion dollars in clean energy tax credits, cost covers, tax credits for electric vehicles and support for agriculture practices."<sup>289</sup> The director of Columbia University's Sabin Center for Climate Change Law stated that "with added EPA regulations and state, local and private action, the 50 to 52% reduction by 2030 is possible using existing technology, or technology that seems around the corner," which is very important as the U.S. needs to hit the goal of reducing emissions by 50% by 2030 to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050.<sup>290</sup>

Achieving all of his promises on energy and climate, President Biden fulfilled two promises out of the two examined in this paper, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 100%.** The success of Joe Biden in fulfilling these promises, both executive directives and legislation passed by Congress. For executive directives, on the first day of his presidency, President Biden re-joined the Paris Climate Agreement, and The Inflation Reduction Act has several provisions that will put the U.S. on course to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050. As a result, Biden received a **traditional legislationmaking success rate of 50%** in this category.

# Energy

As a candidate, Biden drew attention to achieving clean energy goals through equitable means and aiming for Justice40 initiatives. Joe Biden also promised not to allow any new fracking to occur on federal lands and to establish new fuel economy standards.

## Give disadvantaged communities 40% of spending benefits related to clean energy (Fulfilled)

From the start of his campaign, Joe Biden put an emphasis on tackling climate change and making sure to make reducing inequality a big focus of it. On his campaign website, it was stated that "disadvantaged communities would get 40% of the overall benefits of spending in the areas of clean energy and energy efficiency."<sup>291</sup> Through an executive order, the administration started implementing the Justice40 Initiative, that "transforms federal programs to adapt to the needs of disadvantaged communities. In addition, the Inflation Reduction Act,<sup>292</sup> Bipartisan Infrastructure Law<sup>293</sup>and the American Rescue Plan<sup>294</sup>all have provisions that focus on advancing environmental justice. The most significant legislation of Biden's presidency, these three bills set out to achieve "just and equitable" clean energy reforms. <sup>295</sup> In October 2022, the Federation of American Scientists

measured the federal agencies success in fulfilling Justice40 Initiative recommendations and reported that "tangible progress" has been made, making this promise fulfilled. <sup>296</sup>

#### Establish new fuel economy standards (Fulfilled)

Another important issue within protecting the environment was fuel economy standards, and Biden promised to "establish ambitious fuel economy standards that save consumers money and cut air pollution."<sup>297</sup> The Environment Protection Agency (EPA) set new fuel efficiency standards by the end of 2021, and the final rule set "higher efficiency standards by 5% to 10%,"<sup>298</sup> which were 1.5% under President Trump. <sup>299</sup> By establishing new standards ranging from 5% to 10%, President Biden fulfilled his promise.

# Block new fracking on federal lands, but not ban all fracking (Unfulfilled)

Fracking has been an issue long discussed by politicians and environmental scientists; as a candidate Biden promised "not to allow any new fracking to occur on federal lands."<sup>300</sup> However, President Biden broke this promise when the Interior Department announced its "onshore lease sale of 144.000 acres for drilling that will also use fracking."<sup>301</sup> This is one of the two promises President Biden broke in addition to the death penalty promise.

When it came to Energy, Biden was able to fulfill two out of the three promises examined in this paper, giving him a fulfillment **success rate of 66.66%.** In addition to IRA, the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law and the American Rescue Plan had provisions that focus on achieving Justice40 initiatives. Additionally, the EPA had been successful in setting new fuel economy standards. The only promise President Biden could not fulfill and went to break happened when the Interior Department announced that they were going to lease 144.000 acres for drilling, which will also include fracking. Making Biden receive a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 50%** in this category.

#### **Government Operations**

After witnessing an unprecedented Supreme Court nominations period with Donald Trump nominating three Supreme Court justices in a single term, Joe Biden promised to create a bipartisan commission to consider reforms. He also has been able to promise a Supreme Court nomination, and he vowed to nominate the first Black woman to the highest court of the country. As the debate around super PACs and campaigning spending grew heated, Joe Biden promised to increase transparency in election spending.

#### Create a bipartisan commission to consider reforms to the Supreme Court (Fulfilled)

While not promising to expand the Supreme Court or implement any other changes, candidate Biden promised to "create a bipartisan commission to review how to reform the court system and provide recommendations."<sup>302</sup> In April 2021, President Biden signed an executed order to "form the Presidential Commission on the Supreme Court of the United States,"<sup>303</sup> and on 7 December 2021; the Commission released its report to the President. <sup>304</sup>

## Nominate the first Black woman to U.S. Supreme Court (Fulfilled)

During the Democratic Presidential debate, Joe Biden promised that if elected, he was "going to nominate the first Black woman to the Supreme Court."<sup>305</sup> On 30 June 2022, the Senate confirmed Ketanji Brown Jackson to the U.S. Supreme Court to replace Justice Stephen Breyer, making her the first Black Supreme Court justice. <sup>306</sup>

#### Increase transparency of election spending (Unfulfilled)

Pledging to take "dark money" out of politics, Joe Biden promised campaign finance law that would target online campaigning. <sup>307</sup> The For the People Act of 2021 (also known as H.R.1) includes provisions that target online campaigning and transparency passed the House with no Republican support, but the Bill got stuck in the Senate since it did not get the 60 votes required.<sup>308</sup> Additionally, Democrats have been unable to convince moderate Senators like Joe Manchin and Krysten Sinema to vote for removing the 60 votes needed for election-related bills.<sup>309</sup> With the For the People Act of 2021 stuck in the Senate, and the Democratic party's and its president's inability to convince his own members resulted in this promise being unfulfilled.

In fulfilling his promises regarding various governmental activities, President Biden had been successful in fulfilling two of his three promises, giving him a **fulfillment success rate of 66.67.** He has been able to fulfill promises regarding the Supreme Court by creating the commission and nominating Ketanji Brown Jackson to be the first Black woman Supreme Court justice. However, since The For the People Act of 2021 got stuck in the Senate, President Biden had been unable to

fulfill his promise of increasing election transparency. As a result, Biden received a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 0%** in this category.

# **Analysis and Discussion**

Each presidency brings its own set of legislative challenges, political makeup, socioeconomic environment, and both domestic and international crises. While the first two years of the Trump and Biden administrations have been affected by different events, one significant thing they had in common was their political party being the majority in both chambers of Congress. In the 115th session of Congress (2017-2019), Republicans were the majority in the House of Representatives with 241 to 194 and in the Senate with 52 to 46.<sup>310</sup> In the 117th session of Congress (2021-2023), Democrats were the majority in the House of Representatives with 222 to 213, and in the Senate with 50-50 with the additional Vice-President tie-breaking vote<sup>311</sup>. Even though Biden enjoyed a slimmer margin of majority, both presidents were fortunate to have their party control both chambers of Congress which made passing legislation relatively easier and allowed the presidents to face less opposition compared to divided or other-party-controlled Congress.



Table 1

In conclusion, during his presidency, President Trump had fulfilled sixteen promises out of thirtyeight examined in this paper, giving him an **overall fulfillment success rate of 41.1%.** His most successful categories were *foreign*  trade, labor, and governmental with 100%, followed by international affairs with 60%, social welfare with 50%, education, health, and environment with 33.33%, law & crime and macroeconomics with 25%, immigration with 20%, energy and transportation with 0%.



#### Table 2

In comparison, President Biden had been able to fulfill twenty-one promises out of thirtyeight examined in this paper giving him an **overall fulfillment success rate of 55.26%.** His most successful category was *environment* with 100%,

followed by *macroeconomics* with 80%, *energy* and *governmental* with 66.67%, *health* and *immigration* with 60%, *international affairs* with 57.14, *education* with 33.33, *law & crime* and *labor* with 0%.

President Biden had been more successful in supporting Congress to pass legislation compared to President Trump and had a better performance navigating the traditional legislationmaking process in addition to signing executive directives. Out of the twenty-one promises he was able to fulfill, seven of them were achieved through legislation passed in Congress with a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 33.33%.** He had been able to get the support of Congress in fulfilling his promises in four categories: *health, environment, macroeconomics, and energy*.



For health, the American Rescue Plan Act included several provisions related to Obamacare, such as "expanding healthcare coverage to middle-income Americans who did not qualify before and increasing aid for lowincome Americans." <sup>312</sup> For

macroeconomics, the American Rescue Plan, the Inflation Reduction Act and the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law had been three significant pieces of legislation passed under the Biden administration to help state and local governments avoid budget shortfalls, make sure no tax increase was implemented for anyone making less than 400.000 dollars, tighten "Made in America" laws and award federal contracts to companies that make their products in the U.S. For environment and energy, the Inflation Reduction Act,<sup>313</sup> the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law<sup>314</sup> and the American Rescue Plan <sup>315</sup> helped advance environmental justice and put the U.S. on track to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050.

However, President Trump had been less successful in supporting Congress to pass legislation compared to President Biden and had to rely on executive orders for campaign fulfillment. Out of the sixteen promises he was able to fulfill, only three of them were achieved through legislation passed in Congress with a **traditional legislation-making success rate of 18.75%**. He had been able to get the support of Congress in fulfilling his promises in three categories: *social welfare*,



education, and macroeconomics. For social welfare, against the President's wishes to break his own promise, Congress did not make any cuts to Social Security in the FY2019 spending bill. <sup>316</sup> For education, the FY2019 spending bill made no cuts

to the funding of historically black colleges and universities (HBCUs).<sup>317</sup> For healthcare & welfare, for macroeconomics, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 allowed every income group to pay fewer taxes on average.<sup>318</sup>

# Table 5



administration, Congress failed to pass major bills, especially on important campaign issues such as infrastructure, healthcare, or immigration. The most significant achievement of the 115th Congress was the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of

During the Trump

2017. President Trump failed to pass his desired legislation in Congress because the White House has not shown enough support and guidance to Congress on the bills they want to see passed.<sup>319</sup> For example, the White House has failed to offer a comprehensive bill structure on infrastructure to

Congress for a long time.<sup>320</sup> Republican leadership had also come to opposition with President Trump at times, for example, when President Trump failed to notify Congress about the cuts in his budget proposal regarding the Department of Education. Overall, "the president lacked a strategic plan of his own, had few substantive proposals, and demonstrated little skill in garnering support" when it came to his relationship with Congress.<sup>321</sup>

Failing to get support from Congress, Donald Trump turned to executive directives to fulfill his campaign promises. President Trump often resorted to signing executive orders with "great fanfare" when he was unable to reach a legislative agreement with Congress that would have a more significant and lasting impact.<sup>322</sup> Even though he was unable to navigate through the traditional legislation-making processes, he was still able to fulfill some of his promises, such as decreasing regulations, weakening federal agencies, and reshaping the judicial system will have long-lasting effects in the United States.<sup>323</sup>



was chosen to be the most important by the highest number of responders was *governmental* followed by *international affairs*, *foreign trade*, *macroeconomics*, *law crime*, *immigration*, *social welfare*, *health*, *environment*, *education*, *energy*, *labor* and *transportation*.

#### Table 6



that was chosen to be the most important by the highest number of responders was *macroeconomics*, *followed by governmental, law & crime, environment, international affairs, health, immigration, education, energy, and labor.* Assuming that our hypothesis is correct, we would expect both Donald Trump and Joe Biden to fulfill the greatest number of promises in policy areas that were deemed to be the most important by the poll responders.

# Table 8

# **Models of Promise Fulfillment**

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Salience	2.277 **	2.234**	1.560
	(0.952)	(0.979)	(2.386)
Senate Share		-0.002	-0.016
Pandemic		0.541***	(0.539)***
		(0.110)	(0.153)
Fixed Effects			х

# Table 9

# Models of Traditional Legislation-making Conditional on Promise Fulfillment

Salience	1.674	1.614	0.040

-	(0.133)	(1.295)	(0.215)
Senate Share		-0.085	0.001
		(0.154)	(0.0713)
Pandemic		0.127	0.000`
		(0.235)	(0.193)
Fixed Effects			х

*Notes:* Significance codes are: \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.001, `: the coefficient for variable pandemic is reported at a very small scale; actual value is 0.0000765.

Lastly, looking at the three regression models allows us to see whether our hypotheses were correct or not. **Table 8 Models of Promise Fulfillment** looks at the statistical effect of public opinion on the salience of issues on promise fulfillment. The results from Model 2 show that there is a positive relationship between salience and promise fulfillment with the coefficient being 2.277. Model 1 also gives us a p value of 0.019 making the positive relationship between salience and promise fulfillment the hypothesis that *there is a positive relationship between public opinion on the salience of issues and promise fulfillment.* Controlling for senate share and the pandemic variables, the results from Model 2 show there is a positive relationship between salience and promise fulfillment with the coefficient being 2.234. Model 2 also gives us a p value of 0.025 making the positive relationship between salience and promise fulfillment a statistically significant one controlling for the Senate share, and the pandemic.

Model 2 also indicates that there isn't a statistically significant relationship between the Senate share and the promise fulfilment, but it should be noted that there was only one Senator difference between the presidencies, making it harder to draw concrete conclusions. Lastly, Model 2 shows that a campaign promise being related to the pandemic leads to an approximately 54% increase in promise fulfillment; with the p value of 0 indicating a very significant statistic relationship between pandemic related promises and promise fulfilment. These results further support our hypothesis that *promises that are related to crises such as the pandemic are more likely to be fulfilled*. Lastly, Model 3 gives us results controlling for fixed effects, senate share, and the pandemic. Controlling for these variables, we see that there is a positive relationship between salience and promise fulfilment with a coefficient of 1.560 however, the relationship is not statistically significant. Similar to Model 2, results from Model 3 show that there isn't a statistically significant relationship between the Senate share and the promise fulfilment. Similar to Model 2, Model 3 shows that a campaign promise being related to the pandemic leads to an approximately 54% increase in promise fulfilment; with the p value of 0.001 indicating a very significant statistic relationship between pandemic related promises and promise fulfilment.

# Table 10

#### 25% and 75% Margins for Models of Promise Fulfillment

-	Model 1	Model 2
Salience 25%	0.405	0.407
Salience 75%	0.541	0.540

To further understand the relationship between salience and promise fulfillment, we look at how much of a difference occurs in promise fulfillment when salience moves from 25% to 75%. In **Model 1,** we find that when we more from approximately three people (0.032) finding a policy issue salient to approximately nine people (0.092) finding a policy issue salient, the probability of a promise being fulfilled increases by approximately 14%. Similarly, **in Model 2** (controlling for Senate share and pandemic variables), we find that when we more from approximately three people (0.032) finding a policy issue salient to approximately nine people (0.092) finding a policy issue salient, the probability of a promise being fulfilled increases by approximately nine people (0.092) finding a policy issue salient, the probability of a promise being fulfilled increases by approximately nine people (0.092) finding a policy issue salient, the

 Table 9 Models of Traditional Legislation-making Conditional on Promise Fulfillment

 looks at the statistical effect of public opinion on the salience of issues on promise fulfilment through

 traditional legislation-making, employing the same three regression models and variables. The results

from *Model 1* show that there is a positive relationship between salience and promise fulfillment with the coefficient being 1.674. Model 1 also gives us a p value of 0,221, making the positive relationship between salience and promise fulfilment through traditional legislation-making a statistically insignificant one. The results from the regression analysis, do not support the hypothesis that there is a positive relationship between public opinion on the salience of issues and promise fulfillment through traditional legislation-making. Controlling for senate share and the pandemic variables, the results from *Model 2* show that that there is a positive relationship between salience and promise fulfillment with the coefficient being 1.614. Model 2 also gives us a p value of 0.222 making the positive relationship between salience and promise fulfilment through traditional legislationmaking a statistically insignificant one. *Model 2* also indicates that there isn't a statistically significant relationship between the Senate share and the promise fulfilment through traditional legislation making. Lastly, Model 2 shows that a campaign promise being related to the pandemic leads to an approximately 12% increase in promise fulfillment through traditional legislation-making, with the p value of 0.594 indicating an insignificant statistic relationship. The results do not support our hypothesis that promises related to crises such as the pandemic are more likely to be fulfilled through traditional legislation-making.

Lastly, *Model 3* gives us results controlling for fixed effects, senate share, and the pandemic. Controlling for these variables, we see that there is a positive relationship between salience and promise fulfilment through traditional legislation-making with a coefficient of 0.040 however, the relationship is not statistically significant. Similar to *Model 2*, results from *Model 3* show that there isn't a statistically significant relationship between the Senate share and the promise fulfilment. Lastly, *Model 3* shows that a campaign promise being related to the pandemic does not really lead to a significant increase in the promise being fulfilled through traditional legislation-making.

#### Conclusion

In conclusion, we find enough evidence to support our *H1a* that *Donald Trump fulfilled less* promises compared to Joe Biden because he was not able to successfully navigate the traditional legislation-making processes. During his administration, Donald Trump was able to fulfill 42.10% of his promises, and 18.75% of the promises were fulfilled through traditional legislation-making. In comparison, during his administration, Joe Biden was able to fulfill 55.26% of his promises, and 33.33% of the promises were fulfilled through traditional legislation-making.

Due to the make-up of the Congress under both administrations being very similar, we do not find enough evidence to support *H2* that *presidents are more likely to fulfill their promises if they have the support of Congress with the president's party having a majority of seats in Congress.* Additionally, due to minimal differences in the Senate share variable between the presidencies, we do not find enough evidence to support *H2a* that *a president is more likely to fulfill his promises, compared to others, if his party has the higher number of Senate seats.* 

Through our regression *Model 1* and *Model 2*, we find enough evidence to support *H3* that there is a positive relationship between public opinion on the salience of issues and promise fulfillment. However, using *Model 3* and controlling for the pandemic, senate share and the fixed effects, we do not find statistically significant evidence to support our hypothesis.

The regression *Model 1, Model 2*, and *Model 3* do not provide statistically significant evidence to support the **H4** that *there is a positive relationship between public opinion on the salience of issues and promise fulfilment through traditional legislation-making.* 

The regression *Model 2*, provide enough evidence to support *H6* that *promises that are related to crises such as the pandemic are more likely to be fulfilled.* However, we do not find statistically significant evidence to support *H8* that *promises related to crises such as the pandemic are more likely to be fulfilled through traditional legislation-making.* 

For Donald Trump, we find some evidence to support *H5* that *promises in public policy areas the public deems important are more likely to be fulfilled*. During his presidency the top three policy areas that were deemed to be the most important by the public were: 1. *Governmental*, 2. *International Affairs*, and 3. *Foreign Trade*. Donald Trump was able to fulfill 100% of his promises related to *governmental*, 60% of his promises related to *international affairs*, and 100% of his promises related to *foreign trade*. For Joe Biden, we find some evidence to support *H5* that *promises in public policy areas the public deems important are more likely to be fulfilled* but it is weaker compared to Donald Trump. During his presidency the top three policy areas that were deemed to be

the most important by the public were: 1. *Macroeconomics*, 2. *Governmental*, and 3. *Law & Crime*. Joe Biden was able to fulfill 80% of his promises related to macroeconomics, 66.66% of his promises related to *governmental*, and 0% of his promises related to law & crime.

For Donald Trump, we do not find enough evidence to support *H7* that *promises in policy areas that are deemed important by the public are more likely to be fulfilled through traditional legislation-making.* During his presidency the top three policy areas that were deemed to be the most important by the public were: 1. *Governmental*, 2. *International Affairs*, and 3. *Foreign Trade*. However, none of the promises he fulfilled in these policy areas were through traditional legislationmaking. For Joe Biden, we find some evidence to support *H7* that *promises in policy areas that are deemed important by the public are more likely to be fulfilled through traditional legislation-making*. During his presidency the top three policy areas that were deemed to be the most important by the public were: 1. *Macroeconomics*, 2. *Governmental*, and 3. *Law & Crime*. Four out of the four promises he fulfilled in *macroeconomics* were through traditional-legislation making; however, none of the promises he fulfilled in *governmental* was through traditional legislation-making and he failed to fulfill any promises in the *law & crime* policy area.

#### **Limitations and Further Research**

No presidency is the same. Each president leads the country through different times with various challenges, political atmospheres, and personal struggles. The uniqueness of each presidency makes it harder to level the playing field and compare the presidents to each other. Even though some efforts were made, such as removing personal promises it must be recognized that different problems require different solutions. Those circumstances can affect the fulfillment success rate or the traditional legislation-making rate, as a president finds himself unable to fulfill promises because of various crises or some issues that may require actions through executive directives.

Secondly, it must be noted that this research paper focuses on a set number of campaign promises (seventy-two in total) because of time and page limitations; however, adding more promises might change the overall result of this research paper. Looking at more promises can also offer the reader a better perspective and the change to learn more about each president's time in office. Because of the time this paper has been written, actions taken after the end of 2023 were not included, potentially leading to skewed results as President Biden can potentially fulfill some of his promises in the last year of his term.

For further research, more promises, especially the ones pertaining to military and veterans' affairs, can be included to broaden the research perspective. This research project offers an incredible opportunity for expansion, both through adding more promises and more administrations. Further research can be conducted in a way that could add the presidencies of Bill Clinton, George W. Bush, and Barack Obama to create a better picture for the modern presidencies of this century. Adding more presidencies could also potentially allow us to learn the effects of various variances such as second term presidencies, Congress compositions and domestic and international crises. Adding more presidencies would also allow us to see how the public opinion on the importance of various policy areas changed throughout the administrations and see whether there are developing trends when it comes to parallels between promise fulfillment, traditional-legislative making, and salience.

# Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> Thomson, R., & Brandenburg, H. (2019, February 1). Trust and Citizens' Evaluations of Promise
Keeping by Governing Parties. Political Studies, 67(1), page. 249-266. https://doi.org/10.1177/0032321718764177
<sup>2</sup> Davis, M. L., & Ferrantino, M. (1996). Towards a Positive Theory of Political Rhetoric: Why Do
Politicians Lie? <i>Public Choice</i> , 88(1/2), page. 1–13. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/30027248</u>
<sup>3</sup> Sencer, Stephen D, (1991). Read My Lips: Examining the Legal Implications of Knowingly False Campaign Promises, 90 MICH. L. REV. 428 (1991).
https://repository.law.umich.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2238&context=mlr.
<sup>4</sup> Rothman, L. (2018, December 1). <i>The story of George H.W. Bush quote "read my lips, no new taxes."</i>
Time. <u>https://time.com/3649511/george-hw-bush-quote-read-my-lips/</u>
<sup>5</sup> Knott, S. (2023, August 28). <i>George H. W. Bush: Campaigns and elections</i> . Miller Center. https://millercenter.org/president/bush/campaigns-and-elections
<sup>6</sup> Klein, E. (2012, January 20). Presidents keep their campaign promises - The Washington Post. The
Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/ezra-klein/post/presidents-keep-their-campaign-
promises/2011/08/25/gIQAwCA9DQ blog.html
<sup>7</sup> Thomson, R., & Brandenburg, H. (2019). Trust and Citizens' Evaluations of Promise Keeping by Governing Parties. Political Studies, 67(1), 249-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0032321718764177</u>
<sup>8</sup> If politicians keep their promises, then why don't citizens believe them? Poltext. (n.d.).
https://www.poltext.org/en/if-politicians-keep-their-promises-then-why-dont-citizens-believe-them
<sup>9</sup> Bernstein, J. (2022, August 26). <i>Student loan relief is all about Biden's campaign promise on college</i>
<i>debt</i> . Bloomberg.com. <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/opinion/articles/2022-08-26/student-loan-relief-is-all-about-biden-s-campaign-promise-on-college-debt</u>
<sup>10</sup> Glasser, S. B. (2022, November 23). Are we doomed to see a Biden-trump rematch in 2024?. The New
Yorker. https://www.newyorker.com/news/letter-from-bidens-washington/are-we-doomed-to-see-a-biden-
$\frac{\text{trump-rematch-in-2024}}{\text{Lintely } K}$
<sup>11</sup> Liptak, K. (2023, April 28). <i>Biden made a lot of promises on the campaign trail in 2020. here's what he's actually been able to accomplish</i>   <i>CNN politics</i> . CNN. <u>https://www.cnn.com/2023/04/28/politics/biden-</u>
reelection-campaign-promises/index.html
<sup>12</sup> Campbell, A. (1966). The Responsible Electorate. By V. O. KeyJr, (Cambridge, Mass.: The Belknap
Press of Harvard University Press, 1966. Pp. xxi, 158.). American Political Science Review, 60(4), 1007–1008. doi:10.2307/1953774
<sup>13</sup> Cruz, C., Keefer, P., Labonne, J., & Trebbi, F. (2018, July 9). <i>Making policies matter: Voter responses</i>
<i>to campaign promises</i> . NBER. <u>https://www.nber.org/papers/w24785</u>
<sup>14</sup> Bavis, B. (n.d.). Research guides: Executive orders: A beginner's guide: Executive order, proclamation, or executive memorandum? Executive Order, Proclamation, or Executive Memorandum? - Executive Orders: A
Beginner's Guide - Research Guides at Library of Congress. https://guides.loc.gov/executive-orders/order-
proclamation-memorandum
<sup>15</sup> Thrower, S. (2024, March 13). What is an executive order, and why don't presidents use them all the
time? The Conversation. https://theconversation.com/what-is-an-executive-order-and-why-dont-presidents-use-them-all-the-time-150896
<sup>16</sup> House of Representatives Committee on Rules. (n.d.). <u>https://rules.house.gov</u>
<sup>17</sup> Marschall, M. J., & McKee, R. J. (2002). From Campaign Promises to Presidential Policy: Education
Reform in the 2000 Election. Educational Policy, 16(1), 96-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904802016001006</u>
<sup>18</sup> Campbell, A., et al., <i>The American Voter</i> (Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press, 1980), https://press.uchicago.edu/ucp/books/book/chicago/A/bo24047989.html
<sup>19</sup> Petrocik, J. R. (1996). Issue Ownership in Presidential Elections, with a 1980 Case Study. <i>American</i>
Journal of Political Science, 40(3), 825–850. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2111797</u>
<sup>20</sup> Aragonès, E., Palfrey, T., & Postlewaite, A. (2007). Political Reputations and Campaign Promises. <i>Journal of the European Economic Association</i> , <i>5</i> (4), 846–884. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/40005085</u>
<sup>21</sup> Born, A., van Eck, P., & Johannesson, M. (2018). An Experimental Investigation of Election Promises.
Political Psychology, 39(3), 685–705. http://www.jstor.org/stable/45095198
<sup>22</sup> Thomson, R., & Brandenburg, H. (2019). Trust and Citizens' Evaluations of Promise Keeping by
Governing Parties. Political Studies, 67(1), 249-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0032321718764177</u> <sup>23</sup> Bonilla, T. (2022, June 30). "Promises Kept, Promises Broken, and Those Caught in the Middle." IPR
Working Paper Series, https://www.ipr.northwestern.edu/documents/working-papers/2022/wp-22-27.pdf.

<sup>24</sup> Campbell, A. (1966). The Responsible Electorate. By V. O. KeyJr, (Cambridge, Mass.: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, 1966. Pp. xxi, 158.). American Political Science Review, 60(4), 1007–1008. doi:10.2307/1953774

<sup>26</sup> Bavis, B.,. "Research Guides: Executive Orders: A Beginner's Guide: Executive Order, Proclamation, or Executive Memorandum?," research guide, <u>https://guides.loc.gov/executive-orders/order-proclamation-memorandum</u>

<sup>27</sup> Executive Orders. American Bar Association. (2021, November 28).

https://www.americanbar.org/groups/public\_education/resources/teacher\_portal/educational\_resources/executiv e\_orders/

<sup>28</sup> Executive Orders. American Bar Association. (2021, November 28).

https://www.americanbar.org/groups/public\_education/resources/teacher\_portal/educational\_resources/executiv e\_orders/

<sup>29</sup> Coglianese, C., & Firth, K. (2016). SEPARATION OF POWERS LEGITIMACY: AN EMPIRICAL INQUIRY INTO NORMS ABOUT EXECUTIVE POWER. University of Pennsylvania Law Review, 164(7), 1869–1910. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/26600417</u>

<sup>30</sup> Driesen, D. M. (2018, January 31). "President Trump's Executive Orders and the Rule of Law," *UMKC Law Review* 87 (2019 2018): page 489 <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3114381</u>

<sup>31</sup> Deering, C. J., & Maltzman, F. (1999). The Politics of Executive Orders: Legislative Constraints on Presidential Power. Political Research Quarterly, 52(4), 767-783. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/106591299905200405</u>

<sup>32</sup> Branum, Tara L. (2002, January 1). President or King - The Use and Abuse of Executive Orders in Modern-Day America.

https://scholarship.law.nd.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=&httpsredir=1&article=1163&context=jleg

<sup>33</sup> Branum, Tara L. (2002, January 1). President or King - The Use and Abuse of Executive Orders in Modern-Day America.

https://scholarship.law.nd.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=&httpsredir=1&article=1163&context=jleg

<sup>34</sup> *The Legislative Process*. United States House of Representatives. (n.d.). <u>https://www.house.gov/the-house-explained/the-legislative-process</u>

<sup>35</sup> *Types of legislation*. U.S. Senate: Types of Legislation. (2020, April 6).

https://www.senate.gov/legislative/common/briefing/leg\_laws\_acts.htm

<sup>36</sup> *The 1st Article of the U.S. constitution*. National Constitution Center. (n.d.). https://constitutioncenter.org/the-constitution/articles/article-i

<sup>37</sup> The United States Government. (2021, January 15). *The Legislative Branch*. The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/about-the-white-house/our-government/the-legislative-branch</u>

<sup>38</sup> *Public Participation and Confidence in the Legislature*. National Conference of State Legislatures. (n.d.). <u>https://www.ncsl.org/legislators-staff/legislators/trust-for-representative-democracy/public-participation-and-confidence-in-the-leg541.aspx</u>.

<sup>39</sup> Brown, M., & Cohen, R. M. (2023, July 11). *Congress has the power to override Supreme Court rulings. here's how.* The Intercept. <u>https://theintercept.com/2020/11/24/congress-override-supreme-court</u>

<sup>40</sup>Cohen, J. E. (1997). *Presidential Responsiveness and Public Policy-Making: The Publics and the Policies that Presidents Choose*. University of Michigan Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.3998/mpub.14952</u>

<sup>41</sup> Cohen, J. E. (1997). *Presidential Responsiveness and Public Policy-Making: The Publics and the Policies that Presidents Choose*. University of Michigan Press. https://doi.org/10.3998/mpub.14952

<sup>42</sup> Dahl, R. A. (1989). *Democracy and its critics*. Yale University Press.

https://yalebooks.yale.edu/book/9780300049381/democracy-and-its-critics

<sup>43</sup> Rottinghaus, B. (2006), Rethinking Presidential Responsiveness: The Public Presidency and Rhetorical Congruency, 1953–2001. Journal of Politics, 68: 720-732. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2508.2006.00457.x

<sup>44</sup> Druckman, J. N., & Jacobs, L. R. (2009, February 27). *PRESIDENTIAL RESPONSIVENESS TO PUBLIC OPINION*. Northwestern Edu. https://faculty.wcas.northwestern.edu/jnd260/pub/Druckman Jacobs in Edwards Howell 2009.pdf

<sup>45</sup> Canes-Wrone, B., & Shotts, K. W. (2004). The Conditional Nature of Presidential Responsiveness to Public Opinion. *American Journal of Political Science*, *48*(4), 690–706. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1519928</u>

<sup>46</sup> Waterman, R., Silva, C. L., & Jenkins-Smith, H. (2014). George W. Bush: War and the Economy. In *The Presidential Expectations Gap: Public Attitudes Concerning the Presidency* (pp. 104–119). University of Michigan Press. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.3998/mpub.5470718.11</u>

<sup>47</sup> Peterson, E. (2019, July 17). *Presidential Power Surges*. Harvard Law School. <u>https://hls.harvard.edu/today/presidential-power-surges</u>

<sup>48</sup> *Executive orders: An introduction* . Congressional Research Service. (2021, March 29). <u>https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R46738</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Mansbridge, J. (2003). Rethinking Representation. American Political Science Review, 97(4), page: 515–528. doi:10.1017/S0003055403000856
<sup>49</sup> Mayer, K. R. (1999). Executive Orders and Presidential Power. *The Journal of Politics*, *61*(2), 445–466. https://doi.org/10.2307/2647511

<sup>50</sup> Mayer, K. R. (1999). Executive Orders and Presidential Power. *The Journal of Politics*, *61*(2), 445–466. https://doi.org/10.2307/2647511

<sup>51</sup> Mayer, K. R. (1999). Executive Orders and Presidential Power. *The Journal of Politics*, *61*(2), 445–466. https://doi.org/10.2307/2647511

<sup>52</sup> Mayer, K. R. (1999). Executive Orders and Presidential Power. *The Journal of Politics*, *61*(2), 445–466. https://doi.org/10.2307/2647511

<sup>53</sup> Branum, T. L. (n.d.). PRESIDENT OR KING? THE USE AND ABUSE OF EXECUTIVE ORDERS IN MODERN-DAY AMERICA.

https://scholarship.law.nd.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=&httpsredir=1&article=1163&context=jleg Jones, B. (2016). Public Opinion and the President's Use of Executive Orders: Aggregate- and Individual-Level Analyses Across Time. Electronic Theses and Dissertations. 4930. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/4930

<sup>55</sup> Trump-O-Meter: Tracking Trump's Campaign Promises | PolitiFact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-</u> o-meter/promises/trumpometer

<sup>56</sup> Biden Promise Tracker: PolitiFact. Politifact Biden Promise Tracker. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/biden-promise-tracker/?ruling=true</u>
 <sup>57</sup> Jones Prior D. Fronk P. Provide Computer States and States an

<sup>57</sup> Jones, Bryan D., Frank R. Baumgartner, Sean M. Theriault, Derek A. Epp, Cheyenne Lee, Miranda E. Sullivan. (2023). Policy Agendas Project: Codebook.

https://comparativeagendas.s3.amazonaws.com/codebookfiles/Codebook PAP 2019.pdf

<sup>58</sup> Jones, Bryan D., Frank R. Baumgartner, Sean M. Theriault, Derek A. Epp, Cheyenne Lee, Miranda E. Sullivan. 2023. Policy Agendas Project: Codebook.

https://comparativeagendas.s3.amazonaws.com/codebookfiles/Gallups Most Important Problem Codebook.pd <sup>f</sup>
<sup>59</sup> Bavis B (n d) Research guides: Executive orders: A beginner's guide: Executive order

<sup>59</sup> Bavis, B. (n.d.). *Research guides: Executive orders: A beginner's guide: Executive order, proclamation, or executive memorandum?* Executive Order, Proclamation, or Executive Memorandum? - Executive Orders: A Beginner's Guide - Research Guides at Library of Congress. https://guides.loc.gov/executive-orders/order-proclamation-memorandum

<sup>60</sup> Jones, Bryan D., Frank R. Baumgartner, Sean M. Theriault, Derek A. Epp, Cheyenne Lee, Miranda E. Sullivan. 2023. Policy Agendas Project: Codebook.

https://comparativeagendas.s3.amazonaws.com/codebookfiles/Gallups\_Most\_Important\_Problem\_Codebook.pd f

<sup>61</sup> Manning, J. E. (2018, July 11). Membership of the 115th congress: A profile - CRS reports. <u>https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R44762/20</u>

<sup>62</sup> Manning, J. E. (2020, December 17). Membership of the 116th congress: A profile - CRS reports. <u>https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R45583</u>

<sup>63</sup> Manning, J. E. (2022, December 14). Membership of the 117th congress: A profile - CRS reports. <u>https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R46705</u>

<sup>64</sup> Manning, J. E. (2024, April 1). Membership of the 118th congress: A profile - CRS reports.

https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R47470#:~:text=House%20of%20Representatives%3A%20219%20Republicans,)%2C%20and%203%20vacant%20seats.&text=Senate%3A%2049%20Republicans%2C%2048%20Democrats,all%20caucus%20with%20the%20Democrats.&text=assumes%20that%20no%20seat%20is%20 temporarily%20vacant

<sup>65</sup> Masters, J. (2017, March 2). U.S. foreign policy powers: Congress and the president. Council on Foreign Relations. <u>https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/us-foreign-policy-powers-congress-and-president</u>

<sup>66</sup> Moore, M. (2018, May 14). US Embassy officially opens in Jerusalem. New York Post. https://nypost.com/2018/05/14/us-embassy-officially-opens-in-jerusalem

<sup>67</sup> ABC News Network. (2016, September 7). *Donald Trump Wants Plan Within 30 Days to Defeat ISIS If Elected*. ABC News. <u>https://abcnews.go.com/Politics/donald-trump-plan-defeat-isis-30-days-</u>elected/story?id=41905399

<sup>68</sup> Department of Defense. (2017). *Operation Inherent Resolve*. Operation Inherent Resolve Report to the U.S. Congress. <u>https://media.defense.gov/2017/Dec/20/2001859239/-1/-</u>

1/1/FY2017\_LIG\_OCO\_OIR\_Q3\_REPORT\_REV1.PDF

<sup>69</sup> Congressional Research Service. (2022, December 15). *Cuba: U.S. restrictions on travel and remittances*. EveryCRSReport.com. <u>https://www.everycrsreport.com/reports/RL31139.html</u>

<sup>70</sup> *Republican voter challenges Trump: Explain how you would you deport all illegal immigrants.* RealClear Politics. (2015, October 26).

https://www.realclearpolitics.com/video/2015/10/26/republican voter challenges trump explain how you wo uld you deport all illegal immigrants.html

<sup>71</sup> Davis, J. H. (2018, April 4). *Trump drops push for immediate withdrawal of troops from Syria*. The New York Times. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2018/04/04/world/middleeast/trump-syria-troops.html</u>

<sup>72</sup> McCarthy, B. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1368/renegotiate-iran-deal</u>

<sup>73</sup> McCarthy, B. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1368/renegotiate-iran-deal</u>
 <sup>74</sup> Fodewal Resistanty 1, 82 – 21444 and 100 –

<sup>74</sup> *Federal Register/vol. 83, no. 214/Monday, November 5, 2018.* U.S. Department of Treasury. (n.d.). https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/126/fr83\_55269.pdf

<sup>75</sup> Bavis, B. (n.d.). Research guides: Executive orders: A beginner's guide: Executive order, proclamation, or executive memorandum? Executive Order, Proclamation, or Executive Memorandum? - Executive Orders: A Beginner's Guide - Research Guides at Library of Congress. <u>https://guides.loc.gov/executive-orders/order-proclamation-memorandum</u>
 <sup>76</sup> Oin L (2017 January 22) Transport P 1975 and P 1975 and

<sup>76</sup> Qiu, L. (2017, January 23). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1409/stop-tpp</u>
 <sup>77</sup> McBride L. Chatzky, A. & Science and Coost Constraints of the last statement of the last statemen

<sup>77</sup> McBride, J., Chatzky, A., & Siripurapu, A. (2021, September 20). What's next for the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP)? Council on Foreign Relations. <u>https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/what-trans-pacific-partnership-tpp</u>
 <sup>78</sup> Trump D. I. (2017, January 23). Presidential Manuary 10, Parallel and Parall

<sup>78</sup> Trump, D. J. (2017, January 23). Presidential Memorandum Regarding Withdrawal of the United States from the Trans-Pacific Partnership Negotiations and Agreement. National Archives and Records Administration. <u>https://trumpwhitehouse.archives.gov/presidential-actions/presidential-memorandum-regarding-</u> withdrawal-united-states-trans-pacific-partnership-negotiations-agreement

<sup>79</sup> Putterman, S. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promise/1410/renegotiate-nafta/</u>

Putterman, S. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter:: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1410/renegotiate-nafta/</u>
 Haberman M. (2016, January 7). D. a. U.T.

<sup>81</sup> Haberman, M. (2016, January 7). *Donald Trump says he favors big tariffs on Chinese exports*. The New York Times. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/politics/first-draft/2016/01/07/donald-trump-says-he-favors-big-tariffs-on-chinese-exports</u>

<sup>82</sup> The U.S. Trade Representative . (2018, June 20). *China's Acts, Policies, and Practices Related to Technology Transfer, Intellectual Property, and Innovation* . OFFICE OF THE UNITED STATES TRADE REPRESENTATIVE <u>https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/301/2018-0026%20China%20FRN%207-10-</u>2018 0.pdf.

<sup>83</sup> McCarthy, B. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promise/1411/raise-tariffs-goods-imported-us/</u>.

<sup>84</sup> Rappeport, A. (2016, September 8). *Donald Trump vs. Hillary Clinton: Where they stand on Education*. The New York Times. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/09/09/us/politics/donald-trump-vs-hillary-clinton-where-they-stand-on-education.html</u>
 <sup>85</sup> Vabilitathi M (2022, Nu - 10) Nu - T

<sup>85</sup> Vakilifathi, M. (2022, March 9). *Why Trump is trying to reduce the status of the Department of Education*. Brookings. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/brown-center-chalkboard/2018/07/16/why-trump-is-trying-to-reduce-the-status-of-the-department-of-education</u>

<sup>86</sup> Strauss, V. (2017, May 22). *What 'school choice' means in the era of Trump and Devos*. The Washington Post. <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/answer-sheet/wp/2017/05/22/what-school-choice-means-in-the-era-of-trump-and-devos/</u>

<sup>87</sup> Rappeport, A. (2016, September 8). *Donald Trump vs. Hillary Clinton: Where they stand on Education*. The New York Times. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/09/09/us/politics/donald-trump-vs-hillary-</u> <u>clinton-where-they-stand-on-education.html</u>

<sup>88</sup> Freedberg, L. (2018, January 23). *Despite promises, trump administration has had little impact on public education in California*. EdSource. <u>https://edsource.org/2018/despite-promises-trump-administration-has-had-little-impact-on-public-education-in-california/592790</u>

<sup>89</sup> Desmond-Harris, J. (2016, November 15). *Trump's "new deal" for Black America isn't new, nor is it for Black America*. Vox. <u>https://www.vox.com/identities/2016/11/15/13625838/donald-trump-new-deal-black-america-african-american-race-racism</u>

<sup>90</sup> EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-</u> BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf

<sup>91</sup> *The Federal Register: Enforcing Statutory Prohibitions on Federal Control of Education*. Federal Register. (2017, April 26). <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2017/05/01/2017-08905/enforcing-statutory-prohibitions-on-federal-control-of-education</u>

<sup>92</sup> Jackson, A. (2016, November 10). <i>Donald Trump has called for the Department of Education to be</i>
eliminated - here's how he could legally do it. Business Insider. https://www.businessinsider.com/how-donald-
trump-could-eliminate-the-department-of-education-2016-11
<sup>93</sup> Ragland, W. (2024, March 27). <i>Trump's Plan to Eliminate the Department of Education is Yet Another</i>
in a List of Terrible Ideas. Center for American Progress Action.
https://www.americanprogressaction.org/article/trumps-plan-to-eliminate-the-department-of-education-is-yet-
another-in-a-list-of-terrible-ideas
<sup>94</sup> US Department of Education (ED). (2017, July 17). Education for the Disadvantaged,
https://www2.ed.gov/about/overview/budget/budget17/17action.pdf
<sup>95</sup> <i>President Trump's Full FY 2018 Budget</i> . Committee for a Responsible Federal Budget. (2017, May
24). https://www.crfb.org/papers/president-trumps-full-fy-2018-budget
<sup>96</sup> Larson, J. B., (2018, September 2). "Text - H.R.1892 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Bipartisan Budget
Act of 2018," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1892
<sup>97</sup> Yarmuth, J. A., (2019, February 8). "Text - H.R.3877 - 116th Congress (2019-2020): Bipartisan
Budget Act of 2019," legislation 2019/2020, https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/house-
bill/3877#:~:text=This%20bill%20increases%20discretionary%20spending,for%20defense%20and%20nondefe
nse%20spending.
<sup>98</sup> Delivering Government Solutions in the 21st Century. White House. (n.d.).
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Government-Reform-and-Reorg-Plan.pdf
<sup>99</sup> Yarmuth, J. A., (2019, February 8). "Text - H.R.3877 - 116th Congress (2019-2020): Bipartisan
Budget Act of 2019," legislation Budget Act of 2019," legislation
2019/2020, https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/house-
bill/3877#:~:text=This%20bill%20increases%20discretionary%20spending,for%20defense%20and%20nondefe
nse%20spending
<sup>100</sup> Katz, E. (2021, April 13). Congress begins formally blocking Trump's Government Reorganization
Plan. Government Executive. https://www.govexec.com/management/2018/09/congress-begins-formally-
blocking-trumps-government-reorganization-plan/151218
<sup>101</sup> Yarmuth, J. A., (2019, February 8). "Text - H.R.3877 - 116th Congress (2019-2020): Bipartisan
Budget Act of 2019," legislation Budget Act of 2019," legislation
2019/2020, https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/house-
<u>bill/3877#:~:text=This%20bill%20increases%20discretionary%20spending,for%20defense%20and%20nondefe</u>
nse%20spending
<sup>102</sup> <i>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019.</i> Office
<sup>102</sup> <i>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019.</i> Office of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-</u>
<sup>102</sup> EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-</u> BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</u></li> <li><u>BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</u></li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14).</li> </ul>
<sup>102</sup> EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-</u> BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</u></li> <li><u>BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</u></li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14).</li> <li><u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</u></li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</u></li> <li><u>BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</u></li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14).</li> <li><u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-</u></li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</u></li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14). <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html">https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</a> </li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345">https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</a></li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</u></li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14). <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb">https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb</a> video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14). https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14). https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14). https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>Sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li>Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16).</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14).</li> <li>https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals.</li> <li>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>16_sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li>Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16).</li> <li>https://time.com/3923128/donald-trump-announcement-speech</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14). https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>Sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li>Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16).</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14). https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li>Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16). https://time.com/3923128/donald-trump-announcement-speech</li> <li>Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care Act of 2017," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1628</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14). https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>16_sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li>Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16). https://time.com/3923128/donald-trump-announcement-speech</li> <li>107 Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14). https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li>Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16). https://time.com/3923128/donald-trump-announcement-speech</li> <li>Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care Act of 2017," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1628</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office</li> <li>of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019- BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14).</li> <li>https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3- minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New</li> <li>Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals.</li> <li>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>16_sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li>Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16).</li> <li>https://time.com/3923128/donald-trump-announcement-speech</li> <li>Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care</li> <li>Act of 2017," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1628</li> <li>Park, H. (2017, March 7). Republicans' changes to Medicaid could have larger impact than their changes to Obamacare. The New York Times.</li> <li>https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/03/07/us/politics/medicaid-reform-impact-on-states.html</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14). https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>16_sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li>Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16). https://time.com/3923128/donald-trump-announcement-speech</li> <li>107 Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care</li> <li>Act of 2017," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1628</li> <li>108 Park, H. (2017, March 7). Republicans' changes to Medicaid could have larger impact than their changes to Obamacare. The New York Times.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office</li> <li>of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019- BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14).</li> <li>https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3- minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New</li> <li>Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals.</li> <li>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>16_sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li>Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16).</li> <li>https://time.com/3923128/donald-trump-announcement-speech</li> <li>Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care</li> <li>Act of 2017," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1628</li> <li>Park, H. (2017, March 7). Republicans' changes to Medicaid could have larger impact than their changes to Obamacare. The New York Times.</li> <li>https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/03/07/us/politics/medicaid-reform-impact-on-states.html</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019- BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li>Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14).</li> <li>https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3- minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb video.html</li> <li>Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New</li> <li>Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li>Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals.</li> <li>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>16_sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li>Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16).</li> <li>https://time.com/3923128/donald-trump-announcement-speech</li> <li>Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care</li> <li>Act of 2017," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1628</li> <li>Park, H. (2017, March 7). Republicans' changes to Medicaid could have larger impact than their</li> <li>changes to Obamacare. The New York Times.</li> <li>https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/03/07/us/politics/medicaid-reform-impact-on-states.html</li> <li>H.R. 1628 American Health Care Act of 2017. CONGRESSIONAL BUDGET OFFICE COST</li> <li>ESTIMATE. (2017, May 4). https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017-</li> <li>2018/costestimate/hr1628aspassed.pdf</li> </ul>
<ul> <li><sup>102</sup> EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office</li> <li>of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019- BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li><sup>103</sup> Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14).</li> <li>https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3- minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb video.html</li> <li><sup>104</sup> Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New</li> <li>Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li><sup>105</sup> Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals.</li> <li>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li>16_sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li><sup>106</sup> Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16).</li> <li>https://time.com/3923128/donald-trump-announcement-speech</li> <li><sup>107</sup> Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care</li> <li>Act of 2017," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1628</li> <li><sup>108</sup> Park, H. (2017, March 7). Republicars' changes to Medicaid could have larger impact than their</li> <li>changes to Obamacare. The New York Times.</li> <li>https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/03/07/us/politics/medicaid-reform-impact-on-states.html</li> <li><sup>109</sup> H.R. 1628 American Health Care Act of 2017. CONGRESSIONAL BUDGET OFFICE COST</li> <li>ESTIMATE. (2017, May 4). https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017-</li> <li>2018/costestimate/hr1628aspassed.pdf</li> <li><sup>110</sup> President Trump's Full FY 2018 Budget. Committee for a Responsible Federal Budget. (201</li></ul>
<ul> <li><sup>102</sup> EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</u></li> <li><sup>103</sup> Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14). https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3- minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li><sup>104</sup> Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New</li> <li>Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li><sup>105</sup> Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals.</li> <li>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li><sup>16</sup> I6_sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li><sup>107</sup> Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16).</li> <li>https://time.com/3923128/donald-trump-announcement-speech</li> <li><sup>108</sup> Park, H. (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care</li> <li><sup>108</sup> Park, H. (2017, March 7). Republicans' changes to Medicaid could have larger impact than their</li> <li>changes to Obamacare. The New York Times.</li> <li>https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/03/07/us/politics/medicaid-reform-impact-on-states.html</li> <li><sup>109</sup> H.R. 1628 American Health Care Act of 2017. CONGRESSIONAL BUDGET OFFICE COST</li> <li>ESTIMATE. (2017, May 4). https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017-</li> <li>2018/costestimate/hr1628aspassed.pdf</li> <li><sup>110</sup> President Trump's Full FY 2018 Budget. Committee for a Responsible Federal Budget. (2017, May</li> <li>24). https://www.crb.org/papers/president-trumps-full-fy-2018-budget</li> </ul>
<ul> <li><sup>102</sup> EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office</li> <li>of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-</u></li> <li><u>BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</u></li> <li><sup>103</sup> Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14).</li> <li><u>https://www.ashingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-</u></li> <li><u>minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</u></li> <li><sup>104</sup> Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New</li> <li>Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</u></li> <li><sup>105</sup> Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals.</li> <li><u>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</u></li> <li>16 sep_1903 saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li><sup>106</sup> Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech.</li> <li><sup>107</sup> Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care</li> <li><sup>108</sup> Park, H. (2017, March 7). <i>Republicans' changes to Medicaid could have larger impact than their</i></li> <li><i>changes to Obamacare</i>. The New York Times.</li> <li><u>https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/03/07/us/politics/medicaid-reform-impact-on-states.html</u></li> <li><sup>109</sup> H.R. 1628 American Health Care Act of 2017. CONGRESSIONAL BUDGET OFFICE COST</li> <li>ESTIMATE. (2017, May 4). https://www.cobg.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017_</li> <li><u>2018/costestimate/hr1628aspassed.pdf</u></li> <li><sup>110</sup> President Trump's Full FY 2018 Budget. Committee for a Responsible Federal Budget. (2017, May</li> <li><u>2018/costestimate/hr1628aspassed.pdf</u></li> <li><sup>111</sup> Medicare and Medicaid Programs; CY 2023 Payment Policies Under the Physician Fee Sch</li></ul>
<ul> <li><sup>102</sup> EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office</li> <li>of Management and Budget. (2019). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019- BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</li> <li><sup>103</sup> Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14).</li> <li>https://www.washingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3- minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</li> <li><sup>104</sup> Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New</li> <li>Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</li> <li><sup>105</sup> Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals.</li> <li>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</li> <li><sup>16</sup> G_sep_1903_saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals.jb_v2.pdf</li> <li><sup>106</sup> Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech. Time. (2015, June 16).</li> <li>https://time.com/3923128/donald-trump-announcement-speech</li> <li><sup>107</sup> Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care</li> <li>Act of 2017," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1628</li> <li><sup>108</sup> Park, H. (2017, March 7). Republicans' charges to Medicaid could have larger impact than their</li> <li>charges to Obamacare. The New York Times.</li> <li>https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/03/07/us/politics/medicaid-reform-impact-on-states.html</li> <li><sup>109</sup> H.R. 1628 American Health Care Act of 2017. CONGRESSIONAL BUDGET OFFICE COST</li> <li>ESTIMATE. (2017, May 4). https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017-</li> <li>2018/costestimate/h1628aspassed.pdf</li> <li><sup>110</sup> President Trump's Full FY 2018 Budget. Committee for a Responsible Federal Budget. (20</li></ul>
<ul> <li><sup>102</sup> EFFICIENT, EFFECTIVE, ACCOUNTABLE AN AMERICAN BUDGET / FISCAL YEAR 2019. Office</li> <li>of Management and Budget. (2019). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-</u></li> <li><u>BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf</u></li> <li><sup>103</sup> Trump's child-care policy speech, in 3 minutes. The Washington Post. (2016, September 14).</li> <li><u>https://www.ashingtonpost.com/video/politics/trumps-child-care-policy-speech-in-3-</u></li> <li><u>minutes/2016/09/13/b26ec214-7a14-11e6-8064-c1ddc8a724bb_video.html</u></li> <li><sup>104</sup> Rubio, M., (2018, January 8). "S.3345 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Economic Security for New</li> <li>Parents Act," legislation, 2017/2018, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/3345</u></li> <li><sup>105</sup> Saltzman, E., &amp; Eibner, C. (2016, September). Donald Trump's health care reform proposals.</li> <li><u>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/media_files_publications_issue_brief_20</u></li> <li>16 sep_1903 saltzman_trump_hlt_care_reform_proposals_ib_v2.pdf</li> <li><sup>106</sup> Here's Donald Trump's Presidential Announcement Speech.</li> <li><sup>107</sup> Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care</li> <li><sup>108</sup> Park, H. (2017, March 7). <i>Republicans' changes to Medicaid could have larger impact than their</i></li> <li><i>changes to Obamacare</i>. The New York Times.</li> <li><u>https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/03/07/us/politics/medicaid-reform-impact-on-states.html</u></li> <li><sup>109</sup> H.R. 1628 American Health Care Act of 2017. CONGRESSIONAL BUDGET OFFICE COST</li> <li>ESTIMATE. (2017, May 4). https://www.cobg.gov/system/files/115th-congress-2017_</li> <li><u>2018/costestimate/hr1628aspassed.pdf</u></li> <li><sup>110</sup> President Trump's Full FY 2018 Budget. Committee for a Responsible Federal Budget. (2017, May</li> <li><u>2018/costestimate/hr1628aspassed.pdf</u></li> <li><sup>111</sup> Medicare and Medicaid Programs; CY 2023 Payment Policies Under the Physician Fee Sch</li></ul>

Requirements for Manufacturers of Certain Single-Dose Container or Single-Use Package Drugs To Provide

Refunds With Respect to Discarded Amounts. Federal Register . (2022, September 6).

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2022/07/29/2022-14562/medicare-and-medicaid-programs-cy-2023-payment-policies-under-the-physician-fee-schedule-and-other

<sup>112</sup> Brady, K., (2017, December 22). "Titles - H.R.1 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): An Act to Provide for Reconciliation Pursuant to Titles II and V of the Concurrent Resolution on the Budget for Fiscal Year 2018.," legislation, 2017/2018, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1/titles</u>

<sup>113</sup> *Research, Statistics, Data & Systems.* CMS.gov. (n.d.). <u>https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems</u>

<sup>114</sup> Bump, P. (2016, April 3). *Donald Trump took 5 different positions on abortion in 3 days*. The Washington Post. <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/the-fix/wp/2016/04/03/donald-trumps-ever-shifting-positions-on-abortion</u>

<sup>115</sup> *Democratic candidates debate in Houston, Texas.* Democratic Candidates Debate in Houston, Texas | The American Presidency Project. (2019, September 12).

https://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/documents/democratic-candidates-debate-houston-texas

<sup>116</sup> Royce, E.R., (2018, March 23). "Text - H.R.1625 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018," legislation, 2017/2018, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1625</u>

<sup>117</sup> Werner, E. (2018, August 23). *Senate easily defeats measure to Defund Planned Parenthood*. The Washington Post. <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/senate-easily-defeats-measure-to-defund-planned-parenthood/2018/08/23/7103b168-a726-11e8-97ce-cc9042272f07\_story.html</u>

<sup>118</sup> Belluck, P. (2019, February 22). Trump administration blocks funds for Planned Parenthood and others over abortion referrals. The New York Times. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2019/02/22/health/trump-defunds-planned-parenthood.html</u>

<sup>119</sup> Jacobson, L. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-</u> <u>meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1357/defund-planned-parenthood</u> <sup>120</sup> Diamond D. (2016, November 0). *The statistication of the statistication* 

<sup>120</sup> Diamond, D. (2016, November 9). *Trump's historic upset likely means Obamacare is history, too*. Politico. <u>https://www.politico.com/tipsheets/politico-pulse/2016/11/trumps-historic-upset-likely-means-obamacare-is-history-too-217321</u>

<sup>121</sup> Black, D., (2017, September 25). "H.R.1628 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): American Health Care Act of 2017," legislation, 2017/2018, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1628</u>

<sup>122</sup> Brady, K., (2017, December 22). "Titles - H.R.1 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): An Act to Provide for Reconciliation Pursuant to Titles II and V of the Concurrent Resolution on the Budget for Fiscal Year 2018.," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1/titles

<sup>123</sup> IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS FORT WORTH DIVISION. OAG. (2018). <u>https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/attachments/press-docs/211-texas-order-granting-plaintiffs-partial-summary-judgment.pdf</u>

<sup>124</sup> Byrnes, J. (2016, May 9). *Trump: "Everybody is getting a tax cut."* The Hill.

https://thehill.com/blogs/ballot-box/presidential-races/279182-trump-everybody-is-getting-a-tax-cut

<sup>125</sup> Brady, K., (2017, December 22). "Titles - H.R.1 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): An Act to Provide for Reconciliation Pursuant to Titles II and V of the Concurrent Resolution on the Budget for Fiscal Year 2018.," legislation, 2017/2018,<u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1/titles</u>

<sup>126</sup> *JCX-68-17*. The Joint Committee on Taxation. (2017, December 18). https://www.jct.gov/publications/2017/jcx-68-17

<sup>127</sup> JCX-68-17. The Joint Committee on Taxation. (2017, December 18).

https://www.jct.gov/publications/2017/jcx-68-17

<sup>128</sup> *Trump's Business Tax Plan.* Curae. (2016, December 20). <u>https://curae.com/2016/12/20/donald-trumps-tax-plan</u>

<sup>129</sup> Jacobson, L. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1414/grow-economy-4-percent-year/</u>

<sup>130</sup> United States of America. United States of America - Place Explorer - Data Commons. (n.d.). https://datacommons.org/place/country/USA?utm\_medium=explore&mprop=amount&popt=EconomicActivity &cpv=activitySource.GrossDomesticProduction&hl=en

<sup>131</sup> Jacobson, L. (2017, May 26). *Why economists are skeptical that U.S. can grow by 3 percent*. Politifact. https://www.politifact.com/article/2017/may/26/why-economists-are-skeptical-us-can-grow-3-percent

<sup>132</sup> Woodward , B., & Costa , R. (2016, April 2). *Transcript: Donald Trump interview with Bob Woodward and Robert Costa*. The Washington Post. <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/post-</u>

politics/wp/2016/04/02/transcript-donald-trump-interview-with-bob-woodward-and-robert-costa <sup>133</sup> Gandel S (2021 April 24) Denseld T

<sup>133</sup> Gandel, S. (2021, April 24). *Donald Trump in his own words: Atlantic City to the White House*. Fortune. <u>https://fortune.com/2016/04/21/donald-trump-q-and-a</u> <sup>134</sup> Royce, E.R., (2018, March 23). "Text - H.R.1625 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018," legislation, 2017/2018, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1625</u>

<sup>135</sup> Brady, K., (2017, December 22). "Titles - H.R.1 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): An Act to Provide for Reconciliation Pursuant to Titles II and V of the Concurrent Resolution on the Budget for Fiscal Year 2018.," legislation, 2017/2018,<u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1/titles</u>

<sup>136</sup> Gould, H., & Amadeo, K. (2023, January 18). *US National Debt by year*. The Balance. https://www.thebalancemoney.com/national-debt-by-year-compared-to-gdp-and-major-events-3306287

<sup>137</sup> Zamarripa, R. (2020, February 3). *Trump's economy: 7 broken promises to working Americans*. Center for American Progress Action. <u>https://www.americanprogressaction.org/article/trumps-economy-7-broken-promises-working-americans</u>

<sup>138</sup> U.C. Citizenship and Immigration Services . (2017, March 31). *Policy Memorandum: Rescission of the December 22, 2000 "Guidance memo on H1B computer related positions."* Policy Memorandum. https://www.uscis.gov/sites/default/files/document/memos/2017-3-31-PM-6002-0142-H-1BComputerRelatedPositionsRecission.pdf

<sup>139</sup> Johnson, Z., & Beers, A. (2020, February). *hat Is an H-1B RFE? Avoid or Respond to the Top Five Reasons They Are Issued*. ResearchGate. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/338964820\_What\_is\_an\_H-1B RFE Avoid or respond to the top five reasons they are issued</u>

<sup>140</sup> Anderson, S. (2024, February 20). *The story of how Trump officials tried to end H-1B visas*. Forbes. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/stuartanderson/2021/02/01/the-story-of-how-trump-officials-tried-to-end-h-1b-visas/?sh=5e28cd6a173f</u>

<sup>141</sup> *Great Again.* Greatagain. (2016). <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20170119233613/https://greatagain.gov/</u>

<sup>142</sup> " *Legislative Outline for Rebuilding Infrastructure in America*. U.S. Department of Transportation. (2018, February 12). <u>https://www.transportation.gov/briefing-room/legislative-outline-rebuilding-infrastructure-america</u>

<sup>143</sup> FACT SHEET: New Executive Actions to Reduce Gun Violence and Make Our Communities Safer. National Archives and Records Administration. (2016, January 4). <u>https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2016/01/04/fact-sheet-new-executive-actions-reduce-gun-violence-and-make-our</u>

<sup>144</sup> Johnson, S., (2017, February 28)., "Actions - H.J.Res.40 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Providing for Congressional Disapproval under Chapter 8 of Title 5, United States Code, of the Rule Submitted by the Social Security Administration Relating to Implementation of the NICS Improvement Amendments Act of 2007.," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-joint-resolution/40

<sup>145</sup> Heigl, J. (2017, April 19). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-</u> meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1438/reverse-barack-obamas-2016-gun-executive-order

<sup>146</sup> Putterman, S. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-</u> o-meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1344/impose-death-penalty-cop-killers

<sup>147</sup> Cornell Law School. (2021, April). *Woodson v. North Carolina (1976)*. Legal Information Institute. <u>https://www.law.cornell.edu/wex/woodson v north carolina (1976)</u>.

<sup>148</sup> St. George, D. (2022, June 28). *School safety report shows rise in shootings, increase in cyberbullying*. The Washington Post. <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/education/2022/06/28/school-shootings-crime-report</u>

<sup>149</sup> LiveNow from FOX. (2016, January 8). *Full Donald Trump Rally Burlington, VT - 1/7/16 (FNN)*. YouTube. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vylGYHyQcyg</u>

<sup>150</sup> Massie, T., (2022, June 4)., "H.R.7415 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): Safe Students Act," legislation, 2021/2022, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/7415?s=1&r=14</u>

<sup>151</sup> Cornyn, J., (2018, March 14)., "S.446 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Constitutional Concealed Carry Reciprocity Act of 2017," legislation, 2017/2018 <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/446#:~:text=This%20bill%20amends%20the%20federal,residents%20to%20carry%20concealed%20firear ms.</u>

 Transcript: Donald Trump's full immigration speech, annotated. Los Angeles Times. (2016, August 31). <a href="https://www.latimes.com/politics/la-na-pol-donald-trump-immigration-speech-transcript-20160831-snap-htmlstory.html">https://www.latimes.com/politics/la-na-pol-donald-trump-immigration-speech-transcript-20160831-snap-htmlstory.html</a>

<sup>153</sup> Enhancing Public Safety in the Interior of the United States. Federal Register. (2017a, January 30). https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2017/01/30/2017-02102/enhancing-public-safety-in-the-interior-ofthe-united-states

<sup>154</sup> UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT. (2018, August 7). https://cdn.ca9.uscourts.gov/datastore/opinions/2018/08/01/17-17478.pdf

<sup>155</sup> South Dakota v. Dole, 483 U.S. 203 (1987). FindLaw. (1987, June 23). https://caselaw.findlaw.com/court/us-supreme-court/483/203.html <sup>156</sup> Goodlatte, B., (2017, October 7)., "Actions - H.R.3003 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): No Sanctuary for Criminals Act," legislation, 2017/2018, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/3003#:~:text=The%20bill%20expands%20the%20scope,individual%2C%20(2)%20notifying%20the</u>

<sup>157</sup> Krogstad, J. M. (2022, January 11). *Key facts about U.S. immigration policies and Biden's proposed changes*. Pew Research Center. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2022/01/11/key-facts-about-u-s-immigration-policies-and-bidens-proposed-changes</u>

<sup>158</sup> Hee Lee, M. Y. (2015, July 8). *Donald Trump's false comments connecting Mexican immigrants and crime*. The Washington Post. <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/fact-checker/wp/2015/07/08/donald-trumps-false-comments-connecting-mexican-immigrants-and-crime</u>

<sup>159</sup> *Donald Trump campaigns in Miami, Florida*. C-Span. (2016, November 2). <u>https://www.c-</u> span.org/video/?417864-1%2Fdonald-trump-campaigns-miami-florida#!

<sup>160</sup> *Fiscal Year 2018 Ice Enforcement and Removal Operations Report.* ICE. (2019). https://www.ice.gov/doclib/about/offices/ero/pdf/eroFY2018Report.pdf

<sup>161</sup> Valverde, M. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1398/remove-criminal-undocumented-immigrants</u>

<sup>162</sup> YouTube. (2015, December 8). *Trump urges "shutdown" on Muslims entering US*. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YUK2aMYGMCg

<sup>163</sup> National Archives and Records Administration. (2017, March 6). <u>https://trumpwhitehouse.archives.gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-protecting-nation-foreign-terrorist-entry-united-states-2</u>

<sup>164</sup> National Archives and Records Administration. (2017, March 6).

https://trumpwhitehouse.archives.gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-protecting-nation-foreign-terroristentry-united-states-2

<sup>165</sup> Proclamation on Improving Enhanced Vetting Capabilities and Processes for Detecting Attempted Entry. National Archives and Records Administration. (2020, January 31).

https://trumpwhitehouse.archives.gov/presidential-actions/proclamation-improving-enhanced-vettingcapabilities-processes-detecting-attempted-entry

<sup>166</sup> *17-965 Trump v. Hawaii.* Supreme Court of the United States. (2018, June 26). https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/17pdf/17-965\_h315.pdf

<sup>167</sup> Valverde, M. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1407/end-birthright-citizenship</u>

<sup>168</sup> Kight, S. W., & Swan, J. (2018, October 30). *Exclusive: Trump targeting birthright citizenship with executive order*. AXIOS. <u>https://www.axios.com/2018/10/30/trump-birthright-citizenship-executive-order</u>

<sup>169</sup> King, S., (2017, January 23). "H.R.140 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Birthright Citizenship Act of 2017," legislation, 2017/2018, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/140</u>

<sup>170</sup> *Immigration and Nationality Act.* USCIS. (2019, July 10). <u>https://www.uscis.gov/laws-and-policy/legislation/immigration-and-nationality-act</u>

<sup>171</sup> Valverde, M. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promise/1397/build-wall-and-make-mexico-pay-it</u>

<sup>172</sup> Royce, E.R., (2018, March 23). "Text - H.R.1625 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018," legislation, 2017/2018, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1625</u>

<sup>173</sup> EVERETT, B. (2018, June 19). *Trump loses temper over border wall funding - politico*. Politico. <u>https://www.politico.com/story/2018/06/19/trump-border-wall-funding-immigration-653530</u>

<sup>174</sup> Sarlin, B. (2016, May 26). *Donald Trump Pledges to Rip Up Paris Climate Agreement in Energy Speech*. NBCNews.com. <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/2016-election/donald-trump-pledges-rip-paris-climate-agreement-energy-speech-n581236</u>

<sup>175</sup> Garden, R. (2017, June 1). *Statement by President Trump on the Paris Climate Accord*. National Archives and Records Administration. <u>https://trumpwhitehouse.archives.gov/briefings-statements/statement-president-trump-paris-climate-accord</u>

<sup>176</sup> Volcovici, V. (2017, September 8). *Defying Trump, Senate panel approves funding for U.N. climate body*. Reuters. <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-congress-climatechange-idUSKCN1BJ1LA</u>

<sup>177</sup> Borchers, C. (2016, May 9). *The 9 toughest media interviews for Donald Trump*. The Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/the-fix/wp/2016/05/09/8-times-the-press-have-been-very-tough-ondonald-trump

President Trump's Full FY 2018 Budget. Committee for a Responsible Federal Budget. (2017a, May 24). <a href="https://www.crfb.org/papers/president-trumps-full-fy-2018-budget">https://www.crfb.org/papers/president-trumps-full-fy-2018-budget</a>

<sup>179</sup> Royce, E.R., (2018, March 23). "Text - H.R.1625 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2018," legislation, 2017/2018, <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/1625</u>

<sup>180</sup> Damron, A. (2018, December 7). U.S. Becomes Net Oil Exporter for First Time Since Truman Presidency. Washington Free Beacon. <u>https://freebeacon.com/politics/u-s-becomes-a-net-oil-exporter-for-first-time-since-truman-presidency</u>

<sup>181</sup> "Austin, S. & McCarthy, B. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact

https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1359/achieve-energy-independence <sup>182</sup> Austin, S. & McCarthy, B. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact

https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1359/achieve-energy-independence <sup>183</sup> Tobias, M., & Colburn, A. (2016, January). *Trump Making Good on Deregulation Promises, But is Energy Industry Seeing Results?*. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/trumpometer-year-one/deregulation-</u> <u>environmental-promises</u>

<sup>184</sup> Johnson, B., (2017, February 16). "H.J.Res.38 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Disapproving the Rule Submitted by the Department of the Interior Known as the Stream Protection Rule.," legislation, 2017/2018, https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-joint-

resolution/38#:~:text=This%20joint%20resolution%20nullifies%20the,Enforcement%20on%20December%202 0%2C%202016.

<sup>185</sup> *Stream Protection Rule*. Federal Register. (2020, December 12).

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/12/20/2016-29958/stream-protection-rule

<sup>186</sup> Smith, D. (2017, March 28). *Trump moves to dismantle Obama's climate legacy with executive order*. The Guardian. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2017/mar/28/trump-clean-power-plan-executive-order-coal-industry</u>

<sup>187</sup> Kaufman, C. (2016, October 7). *Republican Trump says 70 percent of Federal Regulations "can go"* | *reuters*. Reuters. <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-election-trump-regulations-idUSKCN12629R</u>

<sup>188</sup> Trump, D. J. (2017b, January 30). Presidential Executive Order on Reducing Regulation and Controlling Regulatory Costs. National Archives and Records Administration. <u>https://trumpwhitehouse.archives.gov/presidential-actions/presidential-executive-order-reducing-regulation-</u>

controlling-regulatory-costs <sup>189</sup> Enten, H. (2016, February 14). Obama Won't Be Able To Replace Scalia With A Justice As Liberal As

Enten, H. (2016, February 14). Obama Won't Be Able To Replace Scalia With A Justice As Liberal As Sotomayor. FiveThirtyEight. https://fivethirtyeight.com/features/obama-wont-be-able-to-replace-scalia-with-a-justice-as-liberal-as-sotomayor

<sup>190</sup> *Roll call vote 115th congress - 1st session*. U.S. Senate. (2023, August 11). https://www.senate.gov/legislative/LIS/roll call votes/vote1151/vote 115 1 00111.htm

<sup>191</sup> Cohen, Z., Hansler, J., Atwood, K., Salama, V., & Murray, S. (2020, July 8). *Trump administration begins formal withdrawal from World Health Organization*. CNN. <u>https://www.cnn.com/2020/07/07/politics/us-</u>withdrawing-world-health-organization/index.html

<sup>192</sup> Biden, J. (2020, July 7). Americans Are Safer When America Is Engaged in Strengthening Global Health. On My First Day as President, I Will Rejoin the @WHO and Restore Our Leadership on the World Stage. Twitter. <u>https://twitter.com/JoeBiden/status/1280603719831359489</u>

<sup>193</sup> The United States Government. (2021b, January 21). *Letter to His Excellency António Guterres*. The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/01/20/letter-his-excellency-antonio-guterre</u>

<sup>194</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). American Leadership . https://joebiden.com/americanleadership

<sup>195</sup> Biden announces full U.S. troop withdrawal from Afghanistan by Sept. 11. U.S. Department of Defense. (n.d.). <u>https://www.defense.gov/News/News-Stories/Article/Article/2573268/biden-announces-full-us-troop-withdrawal-from-afghanistan-by-sept-11</u>

<sup>196</sup> Maizland, L. (2023, January 19). *What is the Taliban?*. Council on Foreign Relations. <u>https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/taliban-afghanistan</u>

<sup>197</sup> Afghanistan. Human Rights Watch. (2024, February 12). <u>https://www.hrw.org/asia/afghanistan</u>

<sup>198</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). Joe Biden and the Jewish Community: A Record and a Plan of Friendship, Support and Action. https://joebiden.com/joe-biden-and-thejewish-community-a-record-and-a-plan-of-friendship-support-and-action

<sup>199</sup> Mills, R. (2021, January 26). *Remarks at a UN Security Council Open Debate on the Situation in the Middle East (via VTC)*. United States Missions to United Nations. <u>https://usun.usmission.gov/remarks-at-a-un-security-council-open-debate-on-the-situation-in-the-middle-east-via-vtc-2</u>

<sup>200</sup> The United States Government. (2022, July 14). *Fact sheet: The United States-Palestinian Relationship.* The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-</u> releases/2022/07/14/feet sheet the united states palestinian relationship.

releases/2022/07/14/fact-sheet-the-united-states-palestinian-relationship

<sup>201</sup> Sherman, A. & Jacobson, L. (2021, June 10). Biden Promise Tracker: PolitiFact. Politifact https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/biden-promise-tracker/promise/1534/resume-ties-palestinianauthority <sup>202</sup> Jaber, S. (2024, January 20). The US plan to revamp the Palestinian Authority is doomed to fail. Al Jazeera. <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2024/1/20/the-us-plan-to-revamp-the-palestinian-authority-is-doomed-to-fail</u>

<sup>203</sup> CBS Interactive. (2020, April 28). *Joe Biden confident he'll turn Florida Blue, says he'll restore Obama-era Cuba policies in exclusive CBS4 interview*. CBS News. https://www.cbsnews.com/miami/news/cbs4-ioe-biden-interview

Biden Administration Measures to Support the Cuban People. U.S. Department of State. (2022, May 16). https://www.state.gov/biden-administration-measures-to-support-the-cuban-people

<sup>205</sup> Valverde, M. (2021, May 4). Biden Promise Tracker: PolitiFact. Politifact.

https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/biden-promise-tracker/promise/1614/provide-assistancenorthern-triangle-countries

<sup>206</sup> McCarthy, B. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promise/1368/renegotiate-iran-deal</u>

<sup>207</sup> Biden, J. R. (2023, October 2). *Why America Must Lead Again*. Foreign Affairs. https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/united-states/2020-01-23/why-america-must-lead-again

<sup>208</sup> Price, N. (2022, October 12). *Department Press Briefing – October 12, 2022*. U.S. Department of State. <u>https://www.state.gov/briefings/department-press-briefing-october-12-2022</u>

<sup>209</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). American Leadership . https://joebiden.com/americanleadership

<sup>210</sup> J. D., Einhorn, R., Revere, E. J. R., & Yeo, A. (2022, March 9). *The rollout of the Biden Administration's North Korea Policy Review leaves unanswered questions*. Brookings. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-chaos/2021/05/04/the-rollout-of-the-biden-administrations-north-korea-policy-review-leaves-unanswered-questions</u>

<sup>211</sup> Biden, J. (2024, April 1). Additionally, We Should Forgive a Minimum of \$10,000/Person of Federal Student Loans, as Proposed by Senator Warren and Colleagues. Young People and Other Student Debt Holders Bore the Brunt of the Last Crisis. It Shouldn't Happen Again., Twitter. https://twitter.com/JoeBiden/status/1774845205222498417

<sup>212</sup> The United States Government. (2022b, August 24). *FACT SHEET: President Biden Announces Student Loan Relief for Borrowers Who Need It Most*. The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/08/24/fact-sheet-president-biden-announces-student-loan-relief-for-borrowers-who-need-it-most</u>

<sup>213</sup> Butler, P. (2022, December 6). *Supreme Court to Decide on Student Loan Debt Relief: What You Need to Know*. CNET. <u>https://www.cnet.com/personal-finance/loans/supreme-court-to-decide-on-student-loan-debt-relief-what-you-need-to-know</u>

<sup>214</sup>Nova, A. (2024, January 24). Despite Supreme Court ruling, Biden has forgiven student debt for millions. is it enough for voters?. CNBC. <u>https://www.cnbc.com/2024/01/24/despite-supreme-court-ruling-biden-has-forgiven-student-debt-for-</u>

millions.html#:~:text=The%20Supreme%20Court%27s%20conservative%20majority.debt%20for%20millions %20of%20Americans

<sup>215</sup> Butler, P. (2022, December 6). *Supreme Court to Decide on Student Loan Debt Relief: What You Need to Know*. CNET. <u>https://www.cnet.com/personal-finance/loans/supreme-court-to-decide-on-student-loan-debt-relief-what-you-need-to-know</u>

<sup>216</sup> The United States Government. (2023, October 4). *Remarks by president Biden on the administration's efforts to cancel student debt and support students and Borrowers*. The White House.

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/speeches-remarks/2023/10/04/remarks-by-president-biden-on-theadministrations-efforts-to-cancel-student-debt-and-support-students-and-borrowers

<sup>217</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). The Biden Plan to Build Back Better by Advancing Racial Equity Across the American Economy. https://joebiden.com/racial-economicequity

<sup>218</sup> The United States Government. (2021, September 22). *FACT SHEET: The American Families Plan*. The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/04/28/fact-sheet-the-american-families-plan</u>

<sup>219</sup> *Text - H.R.5376 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): Inflation reduction act of 2022.* Library of Congress. (2022). <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/5376/text</u>

Granville, P. (2023, March 30). President Biden's Free Community College Plan Matters Now More
 Than Ever. The Century Foundation. <u>https://tcf.org/content/commentary/president-bidens-free-community-college-plan-matters-now-more-than-ever</u>
 Loe Biden for President: Official Compairs, Website (2022, Density of the first state).

<sup>221</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). The Biden Plan to Build Back Better by Advancing Racial Equity Across the American Economy. https://joebiden.com/racial-economic-equity/.

<sup>222</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). The Biden Plan to Build Back Better by Advancing Racial Equity Across the American Economy. https://joebiden.com/racial-economicequity/.

<sup>223</sup> Jeffrie, H.S., (2022, March 15) "Text - H.R.2471 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2022," legislation, <u>http://www.congress.gov</u>

<sup>224</sup> AlQaisi, R. (2022, March 15). *President Biden Signs Bipartisan Federal Funding Deal Into Law:* \$400 *Pell Grant Increase Coming*. National College Attainment Network.

https://www.ncan.org/news/598511/President-Biden-Signs-Bipartisan-Federal-Funding-Deal-Into-Law-400-Pell-Grant-Increase-Coming.htm

<sup>225</sup> Knott, K. (2023, March 9). Biden seeks Pell Increase, renews calls for free community college. Inside Higher Ed | Higher Education News, Events and Jobs.

https://www.insidehighered.com/news/government/student-aid-policy/2023/03/09/bidens-budget-calls-820-pell-increase

<sup>226</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). The Biden Plan to Ensure the Future Is 'Made in All of America' by All of America's Worker. Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign https://joebiden.com/made-in-america

<sup>227</sup> The United States Government. (2021, June 8). *Fact sheet: Biden-Harris Administration Announces Supply Chain Disruptions Task Force to address short-term supply chain discontinuities*. The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/06/08/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-announces-supply-chain-disruptions-task-force-to-address-short-term-supply-chain-discontinuities</u>

*Register:* A Sustainable Public Health Supply Chain Federal Register. (2021, January 26). https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/01/26/2021-01865/a-sustainable-public-health-supply-chain

Register: Ensuring the Future Is Made in All of America by All of America's Workers. Federal Register. (2021, January 28). <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/01/28/2021-02038/ensuring-the-</u> future-is-made-in-all-of-america-by-all-of-americas-workers

<sup>230</sup>*Register: America's Supply Chains.* Federal Register. (2021, March 1). https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/03/01/2021-04280/americas-supply-chains

<sup>231</sup> Jacobson, L. (2020, July 15). Trump-O-meter: PolitiFact. Politifact, <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/trumpometer/promise/1357/defund-planned-parenthood</u>

<sup>232</sup> Knight, V. (2021, November 8). Biden Promise Tracker: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/biden-promise-tracker/promise/1564/restore-federal-funding-planned-parenthood</u>

<sup>233</sup> Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health, (2021, October 7). *Ensuring Access to Equitable, Affordable, Client-Centered, Quality Family Planning Services.* Federal Register .
 <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/10/07/2021-21542/ensuring-access-to-equitable-affordable-client-centered-quality-family-planning-services</u>
 <sup>234</sup> USA Facts (2022, Mar. 14), *U*

<sup>234</sup> USAFacts. (2023, May 14). *How much government money does planned parenthood receive?*. USAFacts. <u>https://usafacts.org/articles/how-much-government-money-does-planned-parenthood-receive</u>

<sup>235</sup> Miller, Z. J. (2014, February 10). *Joe Biden talks to time about marijuana, Obamacare and the second term.* Time. <u>https://time.com/5647/joe-biden-interview-2016-presidential-campaign</u>

<sup>236</sup> Sanford, C. (2023a, November 23). *Joe Biden speech in Pittsburgh, PA Nov. 2: Transcripts*. Rev Blog. https://www.rev.com/blog/transcripts/joe-biden-campaign-event-speech-transcript-pittsburgh-pa-november-2

<sup>237</sup> Yarmuth, J. A. (2021, March 11). *Text - H.R.1319 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): American Rescue Plan Act of 2021*. Congress.gov. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/1319/text</u>

<sup>238</sup> DeLauro, R. L. (2021, April 13). H.R.2465 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): Healthy Families Act | congress.gov | library of Congress. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/2465</u>

<sup>239</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). The Biden Plan to Build Back Better by Advancing Racial Equity Across the American Economy. <u>https://joebiden.com/racial-economic-equity</u>

Yarmuth, J. A. (2022, August 16). H.R.5376 - Inflation Reduction Act of 2022. https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/5376

<sup>241</sup> Liptak, K., & Lee, M. (2022, May 3). *Biden's political and personal evolution on abortion on display after publication of draft Supreme Court opinion / CNN politics.* CNN.

https://www.cnn.com/2022/05/03/politics/joe-biden-abortion-draft-opinion/index.html

Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). Plan to Protect and Build on Obamacare. <u>https://joebiden.com/healthcare</u>

<sup>243</sup> Chu, J. (2022, February 28). Text - H.R.3755 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): Women's Health Protection Act of 2021 | Congress.gov | Library of Congress. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117thcongress/house-bill/3755/text</u> <sup>244</sup> "19-1392 Dobbs v. Jackson Women's Health Organization (2022, June 6). https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/21pdf/19-1392\_6j37.pdf

<sup>245</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). COVID Timeline. <u>https://joebiden.com/covid19</u>

<sup>246</sup> Yarmuth, J. A. (2021, March 11). *Text - H.R.1319 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): American Rescue Plan Act of 2021*. Congress.gov. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/1319/text/</u>

<sup>247</sup> Sanford, C. (2023, November 24). *Biden campaign speech Beaver County, PA 11/2: Transcripts*. Rev Blog.<u>https://www.rev.com/blog/transcripts/joe-biden-campaign-speech-beaver-county-pennsylvania-november-2</u>
 <sup>248</sup> Glockman, H. (2023, March 23). Piden's budget would raise taxes on high income households, out

<sup>248</sup> Gleckman, H. (2023, March 23). Biden's budget would raise taxes on high-income households, cut them for many others. Tax Policy Center. <u>https://www.taxpolicycenter.org/taxvox/bidens-budget-would-raise-taxes-high-income-households-cut-them-many-others</u>

<sup>249</sup> Sanford, C. (2023, November 24). *Biden campaign speech Beaver County, PA 11/2: Transcripts*. Rev Blog.https://www.rev.com/blog/transcripts/joe-biden-campaign-speech-beaver-county-pennsylvania-november-<u>2</u> <sup>250</sup> Fario B. A. (2021, November 15). *H.B.* 2684 ... 117th Congress (2021, 2022). Infrastructure Investment

<sup>250</sup> Fazio, P. A. (2021, November 15). *H.R.3684 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act / congress.gov / library of Congress*. H.R.3684 - Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act. https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/3684

<sup>251</sup> The United States Government. (2021b, January 25). *Executive order on ensuring the future is made in all of America by all of America's workers*. The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/01/25/executive-order-on-ensuring-the-future-is-made-in-all-of-america-by-all-of-americas-workers</u>

Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). The Biden Plan to Ensure the Future Is 'Made in All of America' by All of America's Workers. <u>https://joebiden.com/made-in-america</u>

<sup>253</sup> The United States Government. (2023, October 25). *Build america, buy america act – federal financial assistance*. The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/management/made-in-america/build-america-buy-america-act-federal-financial-assistance</u>

<sup>254</sup> Department of Defense. (2022, March 7). *Federal Acquisition Regulation: Amendments to the FAR Buy American Act Requirements*. Federal Register. <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2022/03/07/2022-</u>04173/federal-acquisition-regulation-amendments-to-the-far-buy-american-act-requirements

<sup>255</sup> Jacobson, L. (2022, August 10). Biden Promise Tracker: PolitiFact.

Politifacthttps://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/biden-promise-tracker/promise/1589/raisecorporate-tax-rate-28

<sup>256</sup> Bloomberg Tax. (2024, January 26). *Key corporate tax provisions of the Inflation Reduction Act*.
 Bloomberg Tax. <u>https://pro.bloombergtax.com/brief/the-inflation-reduction-act-corporate-tax-provisions/#:~:text=The%20Inflation%20Reduction%20Act%20imposes,minimum%20tax%20foreign%20tax%
 <u>20credit</u>.
 <sup>257</sup> PricewaterbouseCoopers (2023, March), President Riden's EX 2024 budget renews call for 28%
</u>

<sup>257</sup> PricewaterhouseCoopers. (2023, March). President Biden's FY 2024 budget renews call for 28% corporate rate, other tax increases. PwC. <u>https://www.pwc.com/us/en/services/tax/library/president-biden-fy2024-budget-renews-call-for-corporate-rate-</u>

increase.html#:~:text=Key%20business%20tax%20provisions%20in,21%25%20and%20adopting%20an%20un dertaxed

<sup>258</sup> The United States Government. (2021c, October 8). *American Rescue Plan*. The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/american-rescue-plan</u>

<sup>259</sup> Jacobson, L. (2021, December 14). Biden Promise Tracker: PolitiFact. Politifact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/biden-promise-tracker/promise/1575/increase-federal-minimum-wage-15hour</u>

<sup>260</sup> Snell, K. (2021, February 26). *Senate can't vote on \$15 minimum wage, parliamentarian rules*. NPR. https://www.npr.org/2021/02/25/970637190/senate-cant-vote-on-15-minimum-wage-parliamentarian-rules

Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). Joe Biden's Criminal Justice Policy. <u>https://joebiden.com/justice</u>

<sup>262</sup> Office of Public Affairs | Attorney General Merrick B. Garland . (2021, July 1). *Attorney general Merrick B. Garland imposes a moratorium on federal executions; orders review of policies and procedures*. Office of Public Affairs | Attorney General Merrick B. Garland Imposes a Moratorium on Federal Executions; Orders Review of Policies and Procedures | United States Department of Justice.

https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/attorney-general-merrick-b-garland-imposes-moratorium-federal-executionsorders-review

<sup>263</sup> Sherman, M. (2022, March 4). *High Court reimposes Boston Marathon Bomber's death sentence*. AP News. <u>https://apnews.com/article/bombings-dzhokhar-tsarnaev-e52706c006644cfcb3f742cf78afa6d0</u>

Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). Joe Biden's Plan to End Gun Violence. <u>https://joebiden.com/gunsafety</u>

<sup>265</sup> Cicilline, D. N. (2022, August 1). Text - H.R.1808 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): Assault weapons ban of 2022 | congress.gov | library of Congress. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/1808/text</u>

<sup>266</sup> Guardian News and Media. (2024, February 15). *Biden renews gun control plea after 22 shot in Kansas City - as it happened*. The Guardian. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/live/2024/feb/14/kansas-city-parade-shooting-chiefs-super-bowl-latest-updates</u>

<sup>267</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). Joe Biden's Plan to End Gun Violence. <u>https://joebiden.com/gunsafety</u>

<sup>268</sup> Thompson, M. (2022, May 25). H.R.8 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): Bipartisan background checks act of 2021 | congress.gov | library of Congress. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/8</u> <sup>269</sup> The United States Congress (2022) Answer (2022). Fact sheet Pider Harris Administration takes

<sup>269</sup> The United States Government. (2023, August 31). Fact sheet: Biden-Harris Administration takes another life-saving step to keep guns out of dangerous hands. The White House.

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2023/08/31/fact-sheet-biden-harrisadministration-takes-another-life-saving-step-to-keep-guns-out-of-dangerous-hands/

<sup>270</sup> Mogensen, J. F. (2019, May 15). *In 1989, Joe Biden believed the difference between marijuana and alcohol is that one can be used responsibly*. Mother Jones. <u>https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2019/05/joe-bidens-marijuana-legalization</u>

Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). Joe Biden's Criminal Justice Policy. <u>https://joebiden.com/justice</u>

<sup>272</sup> The United States Government. (2022b, October 6). *Statement from president Biden on marijuana reform.* The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-</u>releases/2022/10/06/statement-from-president-biden-on-marijuana-reform

Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). The Biden Plan for Securing Our Values as a Nation of Immigrants. <u>https://joebiden.com/immigration</u>

<sup>274</sup> The United States Government. (2021a, January 21). *Proclamation on ending discriminatory bans on entry to the United States*. The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-</u> actions/2021/01/20/proclamation-ending-discriminatory-bans-on-entry-to-the-united-states

Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). The Biden Plan for Securing Our Values as a Nation of Immigrants. <u>https://joebiden.com/immigration</u>

Memorandum for federal prosecutors along the southwest ... Office of Attorney General. (2018, April 6). <u>https://www.justice.gov/opa/press-release/file/1049751/download</u>

Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). The Biden Plan for Securing Our Values as a Nation of Immigrants. <u>https://joebiden.com/immigration</u>

<sup>278</sup> The United States Government. (2022, September 27). *Memorandum on presidential determination on refugee admissions for fiscal year 2023*. The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2022/09/27/memorandum-on-presidential-determination-on-refugee-admissions-for-fiscal-year-2023</u>

<sup>279</sup> The United States Government. (2022, September 27). *Memorandum on presidential determination on refugee admissions for fiscal year 2023*. The White House. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2022/09/27/memorandum-on-presidential-determination-on-refugee-admissions-for-fiscal-year-2023</u>

<sup>280</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). The Biden Plan for Securing Our Values as a Nation of Immigrants. <u>https://joebiden.com/immigration/</u>

<sup>281</sup> Sanchez, L. T. (2021, April 28). H.R.1177 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): U.S. citizenship act | congress.gov | library of Congress. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/1177</u>

Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). The Biden Plan for Securing Our Values as a Nation of Immigrants. <u>https://joebiden.com/immigration/</u>

<sup>283</sup> Uribe, M. R. (2023, January 17). Biden Promise Tracker: PolitiFact. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/biden-promise-tracker/promise/1612/double-number-immigration-judges-and-staff</u>

<sup>284</sup> Figueroa, A. (2021, April 13). *Up to 100 new immigration judges would be added under biden budget request*. Arizona Mirror. <u>https://azmirror.com/2021/04/13/up-to-100-new-immigration-judges-would-be-added-under-biden-budget-request/</u>

<sup>285</sup> Uribe, M.R. (2022, January 17). Biden Promise Tracker: PolitiFact. Politifact <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/biden-promise-tracker/promise/1612/double-number-immigration-judges-and-staff</u>

<sup>286</sup> Biden, J. R., & Jr. (2020, January 23). *Why america must lead again*. Foreign Affairs. https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/united-states/2020-01-23/why-america-must-lead-again <sup>287</sup> Blinken, A. J. (19AD). *The United States officially rejoins the Paris Agreement - United States Department of State*. The United States Officially Rejoins the Paris Agreement. <u>https://www.state.gov/the-united-states-officially-rejoins-the-paris-agreement</u>

<sup>288</sup> Biden, J. R., & Jr. (2020, January 23). *Why america must lead again*. Foreign Affairs. https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/united-states/2020-01-23/why-america-must-lead-again

<sup>289</sup> Yarmuth, J. A. (2022, August 16). H.R.5376 - Inflation Reduction Act of 2022. https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/5376

<sup>290</sup> Greenberg, J. (2022, August 12). Biden Promise Tracker: PolitiFact. Politifact https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/biden-promise-tracker/promise/1520/put-us-course-net-zeroemissions-2050

<sup>291</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). *The Biden Plan to Build a Modern, Sustainable Infrastructure and an Equitable Clean Energy Future*. Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. <u>https://joebiden.com/clean-energy</u>

<sup>292</sup> Yarmuth, J. A. (2022, August 16). H.R.5376 - Inflation Reduction Act of 2022.
 <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/5376</u>
 <sup>293</sup> Fazio P. A. (2021) No. 2011, 120 W.P.2004 (2011)

<sup>293</sup> Fazio, P. A. (2021, November 15). *H.R.3684 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act / congress.gov / library of Congress*. H.R.3684 - Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act. https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/3684

<sup>294</sup> Yarmuth, J. A. (2021, March 11). *Text - H.R.1319 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): American Rescue Plan Act of 2021*. Congress.gov. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/1319/text</u>

<sup>295</sup> Sotolongo, M. (2024, January 24). *Justice40 and community definition: How much of the U.S. population is living in a "disadvantaged community"*? Initiative for Energy Justice. <u>https://iejusa.org/justice-40-and-community-definition-blog</u>

<sup>296</sup> Safford, H., White, A., Goldman, E., & Iyer, V. (2022, October 28). Assessment of Progress on the White House Environmental Justice Advisory Council (WHEJAC)'s Justice40 Recommendations. WHEJAC-Progress-Assessment. <u>https://s3.amazonaws.com/uploads.fas.org/2022/11/02140508/WHEJAC-Progress-Assessment.pdf</u>
 <sup>297</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Council – White in 2022 – Terminal Progress – Assessment.

<sup>297</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, December 14). *The Biden Plan to Build a Modern, Sustainable Infrastructure and an Equitable Clean Energy Future*. Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. <u>https://joebiden.com/clean-energy</u>

<sup>298</sup> Environmental Protection Agency. (2021, December 15). *Final Rule to Revise Existing National GHG Emissions Standards for Passenger Cars and Light Trucks Through Model Year 2026*. EPA. <u>https://www.epa.gov/regulations-emissions-vehicles-and-engines/final-rule-revise-existing-national-ghg-emissions</u>

<sup>299</sup> Greenberg, J. (2022, January 11). Biden Promise Tracker: PolitiFact. Politifact "Biden Promise Tracker. <u>https://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/promises/biden-promise-tracker/promise/1543/establish-new-fuel-economy-standards</u>

<sup>300</sup> Rev. (n.d.). *Biden*. Rev. <u>https://www.rev.com/transcript-</u>

editor/shared/eqWd5qMe4OL7xy6oaUCVme2dyMwAS6YdiqIMmjKmmbXGqHu3PJZHvMtj452MuF4Sqorys 9veMj19PRK7CPSzY\_95Qq4?loadFrom=PastedDeeplink&ts=3650.34&hasReloaded=true

<sup>301</sup> Teirstein, Z. (2022, April 22). *Why Biden broke his promise to stop new drilling on public lands*. Grist. https://grist.org/politics/biden-promised-no-new-drilling-on-public-lands-heres-why-he-broke-that-promise/

<sup>302</sup> O'Donnell, N. (2020, October 26). *Moments from 60 Minutes' interview with Joe Biden*. CBS News. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/joe-biden-60-minutes-interview-highlights-2020-10-25

<sup>303</sup> The United States Government. (2021, April 9). *President Biden to sign executive order creating the Presidential Commission on the Supreme Court of the United States*. The White House.

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/04/09/president-biden-to-sign-executiveorder-creating-the-presidential-commission-on-the-supreme-court-of-the-united-states

<sup>304</sup> Presidential Commission on the Supreme Court of the United States Presidential Commission on the Supreme Court of the United States. (2021, December). SCOTUS Final Report.

https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/SCOTUS-Report-Final-12.8.21-1.pdf 305 Millinger L (2020 Echangers 26) Piden gaug he'll name a black woman to the Supreme

<sup>305</sup> Millhiser, I. (2020, February 26). *Biden says he'll name a black woman to the Supreme Court. here are five names he could pick.* Vox. <u>https://www.vox.com/2020/2/25/21153824/biden-black-woman-supreme-court.</u>

<sup>306</sup> Mangan, D., & Breuninger, K. (2022, June 30). *Ketanji Brown Jackson sworn in as Supreme Court Justice, replacing Stephen Breyer*. CNBC. <u>https://www.cnbc.com/2022/06/30/supreme-court-justice-ketanji-brown-jackson-sworn-in-replaces-breyer.html</u>

<sup>307</sup> Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. (2022, January 31). *Plan for a Government That Works For the People | Joe Biden*. The White House. <u>https://joebiden.com/governmentreform</u> <sup>308</sup> Sarbanes, J. P. (2021, March 11). *H.R.1 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): For The People Act of 2021 / Congress.gov / Library of Congress*. H.R.1 - For the People Act of 2021. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/1</u>

<sup>309</sup> Philips, A. (2021, December 14). The filibuster debate is (maybe) coming to a head on voting rights. here's what could happen. - The Washington Post.
 <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2021/12/14/filibuster-debate-is-maybe-coming-head-voting-rights-heres-what-could-happen</u>
 <sup>310</sup> Apple, C. (2020, June 25). Control of House and Senate since 1900. Control of House and Senate since

1900 | The Spokesman-Review. <u>https://www.spokesman.com/stories/2020/jun/25/control-house-and-senate-</u> <u>1900</u> <sup>311</sup> Segers G (2021 January 6). *Democrats gain control of Senate with 2 victories in Georgia runoffs* 

<sup>311</sup> Segers, G. (2021, January 6). *Democrats gain control of Senate with 2 victories in Georgia runoffs*. CBS News. <u>https://www.cbsnews.com/news/democrats-control-senate-117th-congress</u>

<sup>312</sup> Yarmuth, J. A. (2021, March 11). *Text - H.R.1319 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): American Rescue Plan Act of 2021*. Congress.gov. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/1319/text/</u>

<sup>313</sup> Yarmuth, J. A. (2022, August 16). H.R.5376 - Inflation Reduction Act of 2022. https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/5376

<sup>314</sup> Fazio, P. A. (2021, November 15). *H.R.3684 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act / congress.gov / library of Congress*. H.R.3684 - Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act. https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/3684

<sup>315</sup> Yarmuth, J. A. (2021, March 11). *Text - H.R.1319 - 117th Congress (2021-2022): American Rescue Plan Act of 2021*. Congress.gov. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/1319/text</u> <sup>316</sup> Couinfo (2022, March 1). *An American Pudant*, EV2010, CouInfo

<sup>16</sup> Govinfo. (2022, March 1). *An American Budget- FY2019*. GovInfo.

https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf. <sup>317</sup> Govinfo. (2022, March 1). *An American Budget- FY2019*. GovInfo.

https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2019-BUD/pdf/BUDGET-2019-BUD.pdf.

The Joint Committee on Taxation. (2017, December 18). Distributional Effects Of The Conference Agreement For H.R.1, The Tax Cuts And Jobs Act. JCT. https://www.jct.gov/publications/2017/jcx-68-17/

<sup>319</sup> Cooper, M. (2017, July 19). Why trump and the Republicans can't get anything done. Newsweek. https://www.newsweek.com/why-trump-and-republicans-cant-pass-anything-639228

<sup>320</sup> Cooper, M. (2017, July 19). Why trump and the Republicans can't get anything done. Newsweek. <u>https://www.newsweek.com/why-trump-and-republicans-cant-pass-anything-639228</u>.

<sup>321</sup> III, G. C. E. (2017, October 1). No deal: Donald Trump's leadership of Congress. De Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.1515/for-2017-0031 . page 451–97

<sup>322</sup> Olorunnipa, T. and Parker, A.( August 9, 2020) Trump's Familiar Routine after Failing to Cut Deals with Congress: Signing Legally Dubious Executive Actions. Washington Post, https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/trump-dealmaker-congress-coronavirus/2020/08/09/8a5b13c0-da52-

<u>11ea-809e-b8be57ba616e\_story.html</u>

<sup>323</sup> Morran, C. (2021, January 27). The government Donald Trump left behind. ProPublica. <u>https://www.propublica.org/article/the-government-donald-trump-left-behind</u>